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connected with the melancholy ease. Mr, Drummond, whose death we are
to inquire into this day, was, as you all know, probably, the private secre-
tary of Sir R. Peel, and was on terms of friendship and intimacy with him,
By virtue of his office, he occupied apartments in the official residence of
the Prime Minister of this country. He was in the constant habit of passing
from those rooms to the private residence of Sir R. Peel, in Whitehall-
gardens ; and it will be proved to you that the prisoner at the bar, for many
days before the fatal oceurrence took place, was seen loitering about those
spots, and watching the persons who went in and out of the public offices
and the houses in Whitehall-gardens. This conduct had attracted attention,
and he was spoken to by some soldiers, who had observed him, as well as
by the police; but, unfortunately, no steps were taken to remove him. On
Friday, the 20th of January, Mr. Drummond left his apartments in Downing-
street, and went to the Treasury, and thence to the Admiralty, in company
with Lord Haddington, whom he left at the Admiralty, and proceeded alone
to Drummond’s banking-house, at Charing-cross ; on his return from which,
when near the Salopian Coffee-house, the prisonerat the bar—for there can
be no doubt of his identity—came behind him, and discharged a pistol almost
close to him. After discharging that pistol, the prisoner drew another from
his breast, presented it at Mr. Drummond, and was in the act of firing it at
him, when a policeman, who had observed him from the opposite side of the
street, ran across the road and threw his arms about him ; and other persons
also assisted the policeman to secure the prisoner, who, in struggling with
them, discharged the second pistol, but Iuckily without doing any mischief.
The prisoner was then seized and taken to the police station-house, in
Gardner's-lane, where he was searched, and there were found on his person
two five pound notes, four sovereigns, and a deposit receipt for 7457, from
the Glasgow Bank., Among some other trifling articles that were found
in his pockets, were ten copper percussion caps, which fitted the nipples of
the pistols he had discharged in the manner I have deseribed ; and after-
wards, upon searching his lodgings, bullets were also found to match the
barrels of those very pistols. My, Drommond, after the pistol which
wounded him was fired, staggered from the effect of the shot, but did not
fall. He walked, I believe almost without assistance, back to the banking-
house. A medical gentleman in the neighbourhood was sent for, and after
a short time Mr. Drummond was removed in his own carriage to his private
residence. For some time hopes were entertained of his recovery, and that
the wound would not prove fatal; but, unfortunately, those hopes were
abortive. He lingered in great pain for some days, and died on Wednesday,
the 25th January. Gentlemen, his death is deeply, and I may say per-
manently, regretted; for he was beloved, esteemed, and valued by all who
knew him. He was of a disposition so amiable, that it was impossible he

could have had any personal enemies. You will naturally ask then, gentle-
men, who was the prisoner at the bar, and what could induce him to deprive

of life a being so unoffending # Mr. Drummond was not only without any
personal enemies, but he did not fill any prominent situation before the
publie. He did not hold that situation in publie life which would render
Lim obnoxious to political enemies, but he was the private secretary of the
prineipal Minister of the Crown, often an inmate of his house, and con-
stantly passing therefrom to the public offices in Downing-street and the
neighbourhood, about which the prisoner was observed to be loitering and
watehing'  You will be satisfied, from the facts of the case, from the threats
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he committed the evime; and knowing that, I feel that I ought, in this stage
of the case, to refer to some authorities, and state my view of the prineiples
of the English law. It will be offen to my learned friend, whose powerful
assistance I am happy to see the prisoner will have, to comment upon that,
and to differ from me if he thinks I am wrong. It has been the custom in
these cases to refer to proceedings of authority, and to the dicta of judges
who have tried similar questions : not that I mean to say for one moment
that it is a question of law ; on the contrary, the question to be decided b

you is a question of fact, a question of common sense and belief. The
whole question will turn upon this:—if you believe the prisoner at the bar at
the time he committed this act was not a responsible agent—if you believe
that when he fired the pistol he was incapable of distinguishing between
right and wrong—if you believe that he was under the influence and con-
trol of some disease of the mind which prevented him from being conscious
that he was committing a erime—if you believe that he did not know he was
violating the law both of God and man, then, undoubtedly, he is entitled to
your acquittal. But it is my duty, subject to the correction of my lord
and to the observations of my learned friend, to tell you that nothing short
of that will excuse him upon the prineiple of the English law. To excuse
him, it will not be sufficient that he laboured under partial insanity upon
some subjects—that he had a morbid delusion of mind upon some subjects,
which could not exist in a wholly sane person; that is not enough, if he
had that degree of intelleet which enabled him to know and distinguish
between right and wrong, if he knew what would be the effects of his erime,
and consciously committed it, and if with that consciousness he wilfully
committed it. I shall be able to shew you, gentlemen, with regard to the
authorities upon this point, that observations have been made to the effect
that they have attempted to define the law too strietly. But such obser-
vations were made without regard to the object of those authorities. It is
impossible beforehand to lay down any definition of the kind of madness
which will excuse the erime of murder ; the disease assumes such different
forms and such various shapes, and acts in such opposite ways, that you
cannot define it. But you may lay down the principles of law which are
applicable to it ; and they are laid down, and uniformly laid down in the
same way, that it is a question for the jury to take into their consideration
whether the party was a responsible agent when he committed the crime,
whether he then knew right from wrong, whether he was conscious that he
was offending against the law of his country and nature, and whether he
did it wilfully. Gentlemen, the public safety is the object of all law; the
public safety is intrusted solely to the protection of courts of criminal judi-
cature, and to juries who administer justice under the law; and it is with
a view to the publie safety that the law is laid down by legal authorities -
principally for the guidance of juries who have to deeide upon questions of
this nature., We are generally in the habit of referring to one of the cele-
brated text writers upon the subject—Lord Hale, who lays down the differ--
ence between that state of insanity which excuses crime, and that which
does not excuse it. In Hale's Pleas of the Crown, vol. 1, page 30, is this
passage :—¢¢ 1, There is a partial insanity of the mind, and, 2, a total in-
sanity. The former is, in respect to things, guoad foc vel illud insanive ;
some persons that have a competent use ol reason in respect of some sub-
jects are yet under a particular dementia in respect of some particulars,
discourses, subjects, and applications: or else it is partial in respect of
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he still appears to have so much reason and understanding as will make
him accountable for his actions ;"' and then, quoting the opinion of Lord
Hale, and the facts of Earl Ferrers’ case, he proceeded to notice the case of
Arnold. He was tried at Kingston, before Mr. Justice Tracy, for malici-
ously shooting at Lord Onslow. It appeared clearly that the prisoner was
to a certain extent deranged, and that he had greatly misconceived the con-
duct of Lord Onslow ; but it also appeared that he had formed a regular
design, and prepared the proper means of carrying it into effect. Mr.
Justice Tracy left the case to the jury, observing, ¢ that when a person has
committed a great offence, the exemption of insanity must be clearly made
out before it is allowed ; that it is not every kind of idle and frantic humour
of a man, or something unaceountable in his actions, which will shew him
to be such a madman as is to be exempted from punishment ; but that when
a man is totally deprived of his understanding and memory, and does not
know what he is doing any more than an infant, a brute, or a wild beast, he
will properly be exempted from justice or the punishment of the law.”
There is, gentlemen, a more recent case — that of Thomas Bowler, —
upon which there is a note in Collinson on Lunacy, p. 673. Bowler
was tried at the Old Bailey on the 2nd of July, 1812, for wilfully and
maliciously discharging a blunderbuss, loaded with bullets, at William
Burrows, and wounding him with the contents in the neck and back,
under circumstances, as they were disclosed in the evidence, which
manifested considerable ill-will towards the prosecutor, and design in the
execution of his purpose. The defence set up was, insanity occasioned by
epilepsy. Elizabeth Haden, the housekeeper of the prisoner, deposed that
he was seized with an epileptic fit on the 9th of July, 1811, and was
brought home apparently lifeless, since which time she had perceived a
great alteration in his conduct and demeanour. He would frequently
dine at nine o'clock in the morning, eat his meat almost raw, and lie
on the grass exposed to rain. His spirits were so dejected that it was
necessary to watch him, lest he should destroy himself. Mr. Warburton,
. the keeper of a lunatic asylum, deposed that it was characteristic of in-
sanity occasioned by epilepsy, for the patient to imbibe violent antipathies
against particular individuals, even dearest friends, and a desire of taking
vengeance upon them, from causes wholly imaginary, which no persuasion
would remove, and yet the patient might be rational and collected upon
every other subject. He had no doubt of the insanity of the prisoner, and
said he could not be deceived by the assumed appearances. A commission
of lunacy was produced, dated June 17, 1812, and an inquisition taken

upon it, whereby the prisoner was found insane, and to have been so from
the 30th of March then last. Sir Simon Le Blane, before whom the trial

took place, after summing up the evidence, concluded by observing to the
jury, that it was for them to determine whether the prisoner, when he com-
mitted the offence for which he stood charged, was or was not incapable of
distinguishing right from wrong, or under the influence of any illusion in
respect of the prosecutor which rendered his mind at the moment insensible
of the nature of the aet he was about to commit, since in that case he
would not be legally responsible for his conduct. On the other hand, pro-
vided they should be of opinion that when he committed the offence
he was capable of distinguishing right from wrong, and not under the
influence of such an illusion as disabled him from discerning that he
was doing a wrong act, he would be amenable to the justice of his
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not to be able to distinguish whether it was right or wrong to commit the
most wicked transaction, he could not do an act against the law. Sucha
man, so destitute of all power of judgment, could have no intention at all.
In order to support this defence, however, it ought to be proved, by the
most distinet and unquestionable evidence, that the eriminal was ineapable
of judging between right and wrong. It must, in fact, be proved beyond
all doubt that at the time he committed the atrocious act with which he
stood charged he did not consider that murder was a crime against the laws
of God and nature. There was no other proof of insanity which would
excuse murder or any other erime. There were various species of insanity.
Some human ereatures were void of all power of reasoning from their birth ;
such could not be guilty of any erime. There was another species of madness,
in which persons were subject to temporary paroxysms, in which they were
guilty of acts of extravagance; this was called lunacy. If these persons were to
commit a erime when they were not affected with the malady, they would be,
to all intents and purposes, amenable to justice. So long as they could dis-
tinguish good from evil, so long would they be answerable for their conduet.
‘There was a third species of insanity, in which the patient fancied the
existence of injury, and sought an opportunity of gratifying revenge by some
hostile act. If such a person were capable in other respects of distinguish-
ing right from wrong, there was no excuse for any act of atrocity which he
might commit under the deseription of insanity.” Now, from the last obser-
vation of the learned judge who tried that ecause, it appears to me, gentle-
men, that a party may labour under the delusion of having received injury,
but if he be able to distinguish between right and wrong, and if he be con-
scious of the nature of the crime, the delusion will not exeuse him from punish-
ment for that erime. That judgment of Lord Mansfield has been supported
also by Lord Lyndhurst, in a case which, gentlemen, I will read to you.
It is to be found in Carrington and Payne's Reports, volume 5, p. 168,
“Inthe case of Fex v. Offord, the prisoner was indicted for the murder of
a person named Chisnall, by shooting him with a gun. The defence was
insanity. It appeared that the prisoner laboured under a notion that the
inhabitants of Hadleigh, and particularly Chisnall, the deceased, were con-
tinually issuing warrants against him with intent to deprive him of his
liberty and life ; that he would frequently, under the same notion, abuse
persons whom he met in the street, and with whom he never had any deal-
ings or acquaintance of any kind. In his waistcoat pocket a paper was
found, headed, ¢ List of Hadleigh conspirators against my life.” It con-
tained forty or fifty names, and among them ¢ Chisnall and his family.” There
was also found among his papers an old summons about a rate, at the foot
of which he had written ¢This is the beginning of an attempt against my
life.,”  Several medical witnesses deposed to their belief that, from the },
evidence they had heard, the prisoner laboured under that species of insanity

which is called “monomania,” and that he committed the act while under
the influence of that disorder, and might not be aware that in fiving the gun
his act involved the erime of murder.” The observations of Lord Lynd-

hurst, who tried the cause, appear to have been in perfect unison with the
law as laid down by former judges, especially Lord Mansfield. Lord Lynd-
hurst, in summing up, told the jury, that ¢ they must be satisfied, before they
could acquit the prisoner on the ground of insanity, that he did not know,
when he committed the act, what the effeet of it, if fatal, would be, with
refercnce to the erime of murder, The question was, did he know that he
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he came here in July, 1841. Before that he had opened an account with
the Bank of Glasgow, upon what is called a deposit receipt. He afterwards
shifted that to the London Joint Stock Bank, and he had applied to the per-
sons in London to give him 52 on the deposit, which was for about 750, They
said it was contrary to usage to doit, and he then drew out the 750/, and
obtained the 5. he wanted, and thep when he got that sum of money he
paid the other back, But onthe 23rd May, desiring to transfer his account
to the Glasgow Bank again, he wrote this letter
: “ Glasgow, May 23rd, 1842,
“ Siry,—I hereby intimate to you that T will require the money, ten days from this date,
which I deposited in the London Joint Stock Bank, through you. The account is for
£745 : the account is dated August 28th, 1841, but is not numbered. As it would put me
to some inconvenience to give personal intimation, and then remain in London till the

cleven days’ notiee agreed upon had expired, I trust this will be considered sufficient.
T Yours, &e., W Daxier M*Navenrox.”

Well, upon that, gentlemen, the account was transferred to the Bank of
Glasgow, and he received a deposit receipt from the Bank of Glasgow for
the larger sum, specified in the deposit receipt found upon him at the time
of his apprehension. Another letter was written by him in July, 1842,
which will be read to you, as it will be proved that he went to the shop of
a gunsmith in the neighbourhood of Glasgow, where he bought the pistols,
and bargained with the man for them, expressing a wish to have them of
the same size, and desiring the man, if he had not them himself, to get them
for him. In that month he bought the pistols, and in that month he came
to London, and again in the September following. But on the 19th of
July he wrote the letter relating to his entering into some business or part-
nership in London, in consequence of an advertisement published in a Lon-
don newspaper—the Spectator—of the 16th of that month, as follows :

“ Opriowal Partversmie.—Any gentleman having 1000L may invest them, on the
most advantageous terms, in avery genteel business in London, attended with no risk, with
the option, within a given period, of becoming a partner, and of ultimately succeeding to
the whole business. In the meantime, security and liberal interest will be given for the
money. Apply by letter to ¢ B, B.,” Mr. Hilton’s, bookseller, Penton-street, Pentonyille.”

On the 21st of July the advertiser received from the prisoner the follow-
ing letter:— -
% Glasgow, 19th July, 1842,

¢ Sir,—My attention has-been attracted to your advertisement in the Spectafor news-
paper, and as I am unemployed at present, and very anxious to obtain some, I have been
induced to write, requesting you to state some particulars regarding the nature of the
business which you are engaged. If immediate employment can be given or otherwise,
what sort of security will be given for the money, and how much interest? I may mention
that T have been engaged in business on my own account for i few years, am under 30 years
of age, and of very active and sober habits.

“The capital which I possess has been acquired by the most vigilant industry, but unfor-
tunately does not amount to the exact sum specified in your advertisement, If nothing less
will do, I will be sorry for it, but cannot help it if otherwise, have the goodness to wrile
me at your earliest convenience, and address ¢ D, M. M.,' 90, Clyde-street, Anderton's
frontland, top flat.” !
He then came to London in that same month, and I shall ecall before you
some of his friends and acquaintances who had known him in Glasgow, and
who met with him and had various conversations with him, and with whom
he walked by the house of Sir Robert Peel; particularly, evidence will be
given with regard to a conversation with the prisoner in the month ol No-
vember, 1842, He remained in London from that time down to the time

when he committed the offence, in the month of January, and still Jodged
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Witness.—T also produce a pistel ball which I received from Colonel Drummond, the
brother of the deceased gentleman,

Cross.examined by Mr, Cockburn.— A few seconds only elapsed between the firing of the
iilrsl: p'::;,ul and my scizing the arm of the prisoner. When I scized him his right hand was
clevated.

Benjamin Weston, examined by Mr. Gurney.—I am an office-porter. On the afternoon
of the 20th of January, shortly before four o’clock, I was in the neighbourhood of Charing-
cross, when I heard the report of a pistol ; on turning round I saw a gentleman pointing
to the prisoner, who was standing about three paces behind him, I then observed the pri-
soner draw back a pace or two and draw a pistol from his breast ; he then placed the barrel
of his pistol in his left hand and cocked it; I then observed that the gentleman was reeling,
and the prisoner was pointing the pistol at him. At that moment the witness Silver ran up
and sprung upon him, seizing him by the arms, A scuffle then took place, and in the
seuffle the second pistol was discharged.

Cross-examined by Mr. Clarkson.—The prisoner drew the pistol very deliberately, but
at the same time very quickly, As far as I can judge, it was a very cool deliberate act. I
was about eight paces distant, and did not hear the cocking of the pistol, but from his mo-
tion I could distinetly discern what he was doing. There was no one hetween the gentle-
man and the prisoner,

Mr. Richard Jackson, examined by the Solicitor-General.—I am an apothecary, residing
in Charles-street, St. James', Westminster. Iknew the deceased, Mr. Drummond, from lis
infancy. I was intimate with him. On the afternoon of the 20th of January I was sent for to’
altend him at the banking-house, Charing-cross. I satisfied myself that he had been wounded
but did not examine the wound. T recommended Lis immediate removal to his own resi-
dence, and accompanied him therein his earringe. DMr. Guthrie, Mr. Bransby Cooper, and’
other medical gentlemen, were soon in attendance upon him, and the ball was extracted the
same day, within an hour after the injury was received, and I was present at the time, JMr.
Drummond lingered till the following Wednesday, when he died.

Mr. George James Guthrie; examined by the Solicitor- General.—1 was ealled in to see
Mr. Drummond about five o'clock on the evening of the 20th of January. Miss Drum-
mond eame in a earriage to my door, where I happened to be standing, and took me to his
residence. T found Mr. Bransby Cooper there, who had examined the wound before my
arrival ; but as he had not found the bullet, we at once proceeded to make a further exami-
nation, We then turned My, Drummeond upon his back, and found the ball in the front,
about halfan inch below the skin, which was taken out by a lancet, not at the time having:
other instruments at hand. I continued in attendance upon the deceased to the time of his
death, and was subsequently present at a post mortem examination of the body. T have no
hesitation whatever in saying that his death was occasioned by the wound. In my opinio
it is quite imppossible that any person could have survived such a wound; the ball passed
through the body directly, but not in a straight line. It wounded the diaphragm, and that
iz a wound which never heals under such cireumstanees, It is certainly a mortal woiind, 15
never knew a person to recover from such a wound made by a ball ; but when occasioned =
by a lanee, sword, or spear, I have seen it healed. I marked the ball at the time it was =
taken from the wound. 1

Mr. Branshy Blake Cooper, examined by Mr. Waddington.—1I attended Mr. Drummond, =
in conjunction with Mr. Guthrie and other medical gentlemen. I was present when the™
ball was extracted. I believe I took the ball from the incision made by Mr. Guthrie. (The =
Brall was here produced.) I perfectly agree with Mr. Guthrie with respeect to the nature of
the wound, and have no doubt whatever that that was the cause of death.

Mr. Guthric cxamined the ball produced, and declared it to be the same which was
extracted. .

George Walter Shew, examined by Mr., Gurney.—I am a policeman of the A division,
No. 10.  On the evening of the 20th of January I searched the prisoner's lodgings, at No. 7
Poplar-row, Kent-road, and in the drawer of a table in his room, T found the powder flasky
the percussion caps, the five leaden bullets, and the pistol key which I now produce. The
bullets fitted the pistols used by the prisoner. !

By Mr. Bodkin.—The articles I produce were found in the drawer of a table which was
pointed out by his landlady as being used by the prisoncr.

John Massey Tierney, examined by the Solicitor-Generall—I am an inspector of the
A division of police. i the evening of the 20th of January I went to the station-house in
Gardener's-lane, where I found the prisoner in custody. I did not then have any conversas
tion with himn. Between the hours of five and cleven o’clock T visited the prisoner in his
cell several times, and conversed with him,  When I first went to him I gave him a caution
that, in any conversation we might have together, he should say nothing to eriminate him=
self, as it might be used in evidence against him, I cautioned him in the same manner on

g
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at each interview, but I have stated the substance of them all. A constable, of the name of
Edwards, was present when the conversation took place, but he is not here to-day, As [
did not intend to mention the conversations, I did not make any notes of them, but I did
:[mkﬂdn memorandum of the conversation in which Sir Robert Peel's name was mei-
ioned.

Mr. Cockburn.—Why did you not have the morning eonversation in the preserice of the
constable ?

Witness,—I wish he had been present. I had no motive for the conversation taking
place in his absence, T first mentioned the conversation at Bow-street.

Mr. Cockburn,—Do you mean to swear that you had no motive lurking in your mind
when you asked him whether he intended to make any statement before the magistrate ?

Witness—I had no particular motive, but I imagined the responsibility was off my
shoulders after the caution T gave him on the previous night.

Mr, Cockburn,—Was not the object of that interview to induce him to make that state-
ment.

Witness,—T did it for the purpose of letting him know that I was ready to receive any
communication he thought proper to make.

My, Cockburn.—When did you first mention these cireumstances ?

Witness.—1 first mentioned them to Mr. Burnaby at Bow-street, on the morning of the
prisoner’s first examination, before the examination took place; and to Mr. Hall, the chief
magistrate, afterwards: but I believe he was aware of it before the examination, 1 was
not examined on the first oceasion.

Mpr, Cockburn,—TI}id you mention the conversation to any one else?

Witness.—Yes ; I mentioned it to the Commissioners of Police, but I cannot say whether
I mentioned it to Colonel Rowan. I sent a private report in writing to the Commis-
Sl1oNers.

Mr. Cockburn,—Now, perhaps, you will tell me upon your solemn oath, whether, when
you made that observation to him, you did not do so with the intention of extorting a con-
fession from him ?

Witness.—The remark was thoughtlessly made. I wanted to turn the conversation, as
I thought he was going to make a full confession, and I did not wish to hear it,

Re-examined by the Solicitor-General.—I was subsequently examined at Bow-street,
and I then heard the prisoner make a statement. That statement was taken in writing by
the clerk and signed by the prisoner. '

The Solicitor- General (handing a document),—Is that the statement ?

Witness,.—TIt is.

The Clerk of Arraigns then read the statement as follows :

** The Tories in my native city have compelled me to do this. They follow and persecute
me wherever I go, and have entirely destroyed my peace of mind, They followed me to
France, into Scotland, and all over England ; in fact, they follow me wherever I go. I
cannot get no rest for them night or day. I cannot sleep at night in consequence of the
course they pursue towards me. I believe they have driven me into a consumption. Iam
sure I shall never be the man I formerly was. 1 used to have good health and strength,
but I have not now. They have accused me of crimes of which I am not guilty ; they do
everything in their power to harassand persecute me ; in fact, they wish to murder me, It
can be proved by evidence. That’s all I have to say.”

Edward Howe, examined by Mr, Waddington,—I am office-keeper at the joffice of the
Board of Trade at Whitehall. T know the prisoner at the bar. I first saw him about a
fortnight before the 20th January last. He was then standing at the top of the steps of
the Couneil Office, which is at the corner of Downing-street. Sir Ilobert Peel’s residence is
in Privy-gardens, which is nearly opposite the end of Downing-street. Sir Robert Peel,
at times, walks up Downing-street to his official residence, I had no conversation with
him at that time; I saw him almost daily after that time, either on the Council Office
steps, or in the neighbourhood of the Treasury ; sometimes I have seen him twice in one
day. On the 20th of January, between three and four o'clock, I again observed the
prisoner standing on the Council Office steps, when I said, ** You'll excuse my taking the
liberty, Sir, but I belong to the office next door; you are a police-officer, are you not?" to
which he replied, # Yes ;" and I said, ** I suppose, then, itisallvight.” I then went away, =
leaving him on the steps. In less than an hour afterwards 1 saw him in custody in j
Gardener's-lane station-house. !

Mr. Cockburn declined to cross=examine this witness, .

James Partridge, examined by Mr. Gurney.—1I am a police-constable of the A division,
and am oceasionally on duty at Whitchall; whilst there I have frequently noticed the
- prisoner in the neighbourhood of the Council Office between the !{t'll and the 20th of
January, On the 13th of that month I spoke to him, and asked him whether he was
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asked him if he had pot the bLrushes for his boots, and he said he had, T gave him the
clothes brush, but he did not use it. I saw him again on that day, about a quarter to ten
o'clock, when he went out. I did not observe, on that morning, anything about his mannee
When he came back to me in September last, he said he had been to Scotland. 1 asked ki
1f he had seen the Queen when she visited there, and he said be had not, for he was not in
that part. I asked him if he thought the Queen’s visit had done trade good, and he said he
thought it had. Ile was always very regular in his habits. I never knew him to
slay out.

Cross-examined by Mr. Clarkson.—He appeared to me to be a man of verysober habits,
He was very reserved in his manners, He avoided conversation with people, When I have
spoken to him he never appeared to wish to join in a conversation. I never saw any com-
panion with him. On the morning Mr, Drummond was shot he went out and returned ;.
hie ran up stairs, and then went out again, When he was ill, I observed that his head ap-
peared to be bad, and that he had much fever. When I spoke to him about the Queen's
visit to Scotland, he seemed to wish to avoid my questions. Ie was not in the habit of
looking people in the face, but always hung his head down. He spoke quickly. His
habits appeared to me to be very penurious; he had but one change of linen, and one change
of socks. T had no idea whatever that he was possessed of such a large sum of money as 7001,
No person ever ealled upon the prisoner while he lodged at my house. Whenever he came
home at night he went to bed immediately. He never had a fire in his bed-room. He
had no sitting-room. [ always considered the prisoner very sullen and reserved. There
were five other lodgersin my house. I let my house out generally, T make my living by
it. I sleep in the room adjoining the prisoner’s room. T have heard him get out of his
bed at night, and I have heard him moan repeatedly, but it did not attract my attention, as
I had observed nothing peculiar about him. I never heard him pacing the room of a night,
but I have known him get out of bed, and smoke a pipe. T thought the prisoner wasa
person out of a situation with very small means. I attributed his sullenness to his difficulty
in obtaining a situation.

Re-examined by the Solicitor-General.—The prisoner used to go out and stay out all
day until the evening. Ile has returned oceasionally during the day. He did not take Lis
meals in my house. e breakfasted out, except when he was ill, His room was neve
locked ; there were three table drawers in his room which had no locks. I saw the police
find the powder flask and bullets in the table drawer ; but I never knew that he had such
things. For two or three weeks occasionally, I have heard him get out of bed at nights.
I have heard him moan ; that was when he was ill. When in health, he appeared to sleep
well, generally speaking. In the latter part of the month of December, and up to the time
lml-was taken into custody, he went out in the morning and came home at night pretty re-
gularly.

By Lord Chief Justice Tindal.—When he came to lodge with me first he brought a
portmanteau with him, which he kept in his bed-room. Healso brought that on the second
oceasion. He took it away when he left me the second time, but did not bring it back on
coming to lodge with me the third time. He then had nothing but what was about his
person, . The change of linen must have been in his pockets. He had no books lying about;
his room. I gave him one religious book—** Exiracts from the Bible.” I gave it him
cause he asked me for it. His habits were just the same on Sunday as on other days.

Mr. William Henry Stevenson, examined by the Solicitor-General.—I am private seere-
tary to Sir Robert Pecl. I knew the late Mr. Edward Drummeond ; he was also private:
secretary to Sir Robert Peel.  Mr. Drummend was in the habit of transacting business ab
his private apartments in the official residence, in Downing-street.  Sir Iobert Peel was
also in the habit of transacting business at that house. Both Mr, Drummond and Sic
TItobert Peel wera very much in the habit of going from the private residence of the pre-=
mier, in Privy-gardens, to the liouse in Downing-street. In doing so you pass by the
steps leading to the Couneil Office; you may also go through the Treasury. _

John Gorden, examined by Mr. Waddington, —I have known M*Naughton abou
six years. e was working in the same close (court) with me when I knew him; he was
working for himself. T was manager for Messrs, Laing and Son, and occasionally employed
the prisoner. I continued to employ the prisoner when he went into business for himselfy !
in Stockwell-street, and until he gave up business, about a year and a half ago. I saw the prlé !
goner twice or thrice a week during the whole of that time. [ paid him mwoney, and he gave me:
receipts for the same. I was not in the habit of visiting him. I was not generally uu]unit'-_laﬁ -
or intimate with him. We communicated only on matters of business. I never mwunylhmf
partieular about his eonduet on any oeeasion. [ eame to London in November last, when I
met the prisoner in St. Martin's-Jane. I shook hauds with him, and asked him, © What he dl:l
up here # and heasked  What do you here?"" and I replied, © In search of employment.=
Prisoner said, ** I am also in search of employment.” T did not know that he was in Londo
until I met him then, Heasked me where I was going, and I told him to Mr, Hedge's, 10
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bought some other things. T think he bought a powder-flask, some powder, and some ballss
but I am not sure of this, The flask was like that produced, but I cannot say it is the same,
because I sold several like it about that time, I think I made him some balls,

Cross-examined by Mr. Clarkson.— By saying * think,” I mean that I am not sure—that
I am not certain upan the point.

Mr, William Ambrose, examined by the Solicitor-General.—I reside at Glasgow. I am
a writer to the Signet; the same as a solicitor here. I was secretary to the Mechanies’ In-
stitute at Glasgow. I know the prisoner Daniel M*‘Naughton; I have known him sinee
the Epfin% of the year 1840, I have'been in the habit of seeing him at the Glasgow Me-
chanies® Institution, He was in the habit of attending the lectures and classes there. He
attended the anatomy class on one occasion ; I was in the habit of seeing him ; I knew him
quite well. An attempt was made to get the rules of this institution altered, in which he
took part. He joined with those who took the most prominent part in getting up 2 memo-
rial for that purpose. He signed it, as I did also. This is the memorial, (Witness pro-
duced the document, but it was not read.) His name is the fifth. I partly prepared the
memorial myself. After the memorial was sent in, a meeting of the members took place
upon the subjeet, and the prisoner seconded the last resolution, which was for the appoint-
ment of a committee to take the subject of the proposed alteration into consideration. The
prisoner was appointed one of that committee. I was in the habit of seeing him a good
deal at this time. T did not observe anything about him to induce me to think that he was
not in his right senses. e did not take any part in the lectures, He was one of the audi-
ence. He was in the habit of getting books from the library from time to time.

By Mr. Justice Williams,— He was two years attending the classes,

Examination resumed.—I saw him at his place of business in the autumn of 1841. I
asked him whether he was still a member of the Mechanies’ Institution. He said he was
not. I had conversation with him of only a few minutes’ duration in his place of work. I
don’t recollect seeing him after that. I did not observe any alteration in him.

Cross-examined by Mr. Cockburn.—1I saw the prisoner in Stockwell, and, as far as I can
recollect, it was in the year 1841, I am not sure of the preeise date, I was secretary, and
also director to the institution ; but this did not necessarily bring me into direct connexion
with the members. I recollect the meeting referred to, but I am not aware that the pri-
soner made any long speech on that occasion. He merely scconded the resolution, There
was some anger exhibited at the meeting. I do not recollect on that ocecasion that the pri-
soner suddenly burst into a fit of laughter without any apparent cause. I have no distinet
recollection what part of the room the prisoner was standing in at the meeting, I was on
the platform, I cannot say whether or not he was in a corner by himself. The discuss
sion was a very noisy one.

Mr. Wm. Swanstead, examined by Mr. Waddington.—T reside in Glasgow. I am cura-
tor of the museum in the Mechanies' Institution there, and have heen so sinee 1831, T
know the prisoner Daniel M Naughton. I have seen him there, I cannot say exactly when
the prisoner first became 8 member, but I think it was in 1834 or 1835, The prisoner at-
tendetl Dr. Wood's lecture on physiology and popular anatomy; and in 1840 he attended
Mr. Mackay's class of natural philosophy. I am also librarian. At this time, he was also
in the habit of getting books, and I think he had 36 volumes during that year. He then
ceased to be a member, and I did not see the prisoner from the year 1840 until May, 1848,
and the last time he had a book was on the 1Gth of September of that year. I frequently
conversed with the prisoner during these periods, The conversation was chiefly about the
books or the affairs of the institution. I recollect the movement of the classes in 1840. I
attended the meeting of the committee of the directors. I recollect the memorial which was

resented for an alteration of the rules. The memorial produced is the same. I have seen

Ir. M‘Naughton attend a meeting of the sub-committee which prepared this memorial, I
have been in the room when the committee were sitting, and I have heard him speak in the
discussion upon the memorial. He spoke * tolerably fair," and made as respectable an
appearance and spoke as sensibly as the rest. I never observed anything remarkable in his
conversation or marner. When he returned to the institution in 1842 he was better dressed
and cleaner than he used to be before. T frequently had conversations with him, He had =
35 volumes entered in his name in the summer of 1842, He wished to have a book renewed,

and I demanded the payment of a penny for the renewal ; he demurred to pay it. I have

seen him in company with a person named M*Clellan, who knew him well, another named
Colin Graham, and a third named Nockold, who was a member of a Socialists® society. He
had other associates also. I have scen him talking in the street with Nockold, and shake
hands with him. I had oceasionally some conversation with the prisoner about polities. He
used to express himself warmly, but I eannot tell his expressions. The impression on my
minid was
Mr. Cockburn.—I object to the witness detailing his impressions or surmises. He
should define the words and conduct of the prisoner which gave riseto those impressions.
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M. Cockburn.—Now, sir, do you mean to say you had an opportunity of forminga
Judgzment as to the man’s sanity or insanity ?

Witness—No; I merely came to say that he appeared to understand what he heard of
my lectures, -

Joseph Forrester, examined by Mr. Waddington.—1 am’ a hair-dresser by trade, and
reside in Glasgow. 1 have known the prisoner for the last eighteen months, I knew him
when he lodged at Mrs. Patterson’s, in Clyde-street, Glasgow, and 1 have visited him there,
We just used to talk together, but upon no particular subject beyond the mere oceurrence
of the day. When I went to see him I often found him reading, = 1 never saw anything in
his manner which led mé to think he was not in his right senses, or that he was wrong in
his intellect. I used to stay with him sometimes half an hour, sometimes two hours,

Cross-examined by Mr. Clarkson.—I never suspected there was anything wrong in the
prisoner’s mind. I know Mrs. Wilson, of Clyde-street, and also Mr. Patterson. It never
occurred to me that I should like to come to London as a witness, I am not aware how
the attorneys for the prosecution found me out, but the captain of the Anderston poliee first
came to me upon the subject. He asked me whether I knew anything about M’'Naughton,
and I told him all T knew. T never offered myself as a witness to any one else. 1 never
told Mrs, Patterson that I wished to come as a witness for the prisoner, neither did I ever
tell Wilson, the baker, that M*Naughton was a * daft” man. I have spoken to Mrs. Pat-
terson on several oceasions respecting the prisoner.  One night she told me she wondered
I said he was right, as T had onee said he was wrong, but T denied having said anything of
the sort.  She then said that I was tipsy. I am quite sober now.

Lachlan M*Gillivray, examined by the Solicitor-General.—I have known the prisoner
for about fifteen years, and I am acquainted with his hand-writing. The witness identified
the several letters and documents subsequently put in evidence as being in the hand-writing
of the prisoner, ¥

Hobert Swanston, examined by Mr. Waddington.—I am a elerk in the London Joint
Stock Bank., Doth the papers produced were written by me, and are deposit receipts for
money placed in that bank by the prisoner. The one dated the 7th of August is for 7501,
which was the sum he deposited with us, He subsequently called and wished to draw out
al., but I told him I eould not let him have that sum, but he might have the whole amount
if he pleased, and he gave notice of withdrawal ; on the 28th of August he drew out the
money, and having deducted 5., again deposited the remainder, to which the second paper
referred, being a receipt for 7450, In consequence of the letter I received from the prisoner,
and now ]Jmtﬁmcd, I transferred the amount to the Glasgow and Shipping Bank, through
their agents Messrs, Glynn and Co., on the lst of June last.

The Clerk of Arraigns here read the letter, which was in the following terms:—

 Glasgow, May 23, 1842,

¢ Sir,—I hereby intimate to you, that I will require the money ten days from this date

which I deposited in the London Joint Stock Bank through you. The account is 7451 5

the account is dated August 28, 1841, but is not numbered. As it would put me to some

inconvenience to give personal intimation, and then remain in London till the eight days®

notice agreed upon would expire, I trust that this will be considered sufficient.
it Yours, &e.,

U Daxiern M Navcaron.'

William Thomas, examined by the Solicitor-General.—I am a clerk in the bank of
Messrs. Glynn and Co, ; the Glasgow and Shipping Bank correspond with us. On the
20th of November I paid the sum of 20V, to the prisoner's draught on account of the Glas-
gow Bank, on the 29th of November, 1842, -

Thomas M*Quige, examined by the Solicitor-General.—1I am an agent for advertisements;
the advertisement produced was inserted in the Spectafor newspaper by a gentleman for
whom I acted ; the letter produced I received in answer to that advertisement, and the note
annexed to it is my reply.

The Solicitor-General.—Please to hand them in, 5

Mr. Anthony M‘Nish, examined by Mr. Waddington.—T searched the prisoner's lodging
at Glasgow, and found, amongst other things, a quantity of books and papers—a list of which i
I now produce. |

The Solicitor-General.—I propose now, my lord, to read the advertisement and the letter
in roply. '

mﬁfr Justice Tindal.— By all means.

The Clerk of Arraigns then read the advertisement :—

“ Orrionar, Panrnensmir.—Any gentleman having 10001 ma invest them, on ﬂ'll_-
most advantageous terms, in a genteel business in London, attended with no risk ; with the
option, within a given period, of becoming a partner, and of ultimately succeeding to the
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believe me when I assure you that I say this, not by way of idle or common-

place exordium, but as expressing the deep emotions by which my mind is
agitated. I Delieve that you—I know that the numerous professional
brethren by whom I see myself surrounded—will understand me when I say
that of all the positions in which, in the discharge of our various duties in
the different relations of life, a man may be placed, none can be more pain-
ful or more paralysing to the energies of the mind than that of an advoeate to
whom is committed the defence of a fellow being in a matter involving life
and death, and who, while deeply convinced that the defence which he has
to offer is founded in truth and justice, yet sees in the circumstances by
which the case is surrounded, that which makes him look forward with ap-
prehension and trembling to the result. Gentlemen, if this were an ordi-
nary case—if you had heard of it for the first time since you entered into
that box—if the individual who has fallen a victim had been some obscure
and unknown person, instead of one whose character, whose excellence, and
whose fate had commanded the approbation, the love, and the sympathy of
all, I should feel no anxiety as to the issue of this trial. But alas! can I
dare to hope that even among you, who are to pass in judgment on the
accused, there can be one who has not brought to the judgment-seat a mind
imbued with preconceived notions on the case which is the subject of this
important inquiry ? In all classes of this great community—in every corner
of this vast metropolis—from end to end, even to the remotest confines of
this extensive empire—has this case been already canvassed, discussed, de-
termined—and that, with reference only to the worth of the victim,
and the nature of the crime—not with reference to the state or condition of
him by whom that erime has been committed— and hence there has arisen in
men's minds an insatiate desire of vengeance—there has gone forth a wild
and merciless ery for blood, to which you are called upon this day to
minister | Yet do I not complain, When I bearin mind how deeply the horror
of assassination is stamped on the hearts of men, above all, on the cha-
racters of Englishmen,—and believe me, there breathes no one on God's earth
by whom that erime is more abhorred than by him who now addresses you,
and who, deeply deploring the loss, and acknowledging the goodness—dwelt
upon with such touching eloquence by my learned friend—of him who in
this instance has been its vietim, would fain add, if it may be permitted,
an humble tribute to the memory of him who has been taken from us,—
when I bear in mind, I say, these things, I will not give way to one single
feeling—I will not breathe one single murmur of complaint or surprise at
the passionate excitement which has pervaded the public mind on this un-
fortunate oceasion. But I shall, I trust, be forgiven if I give utterance to
the feelings of fear and dread by which, on approaching this case, I find my
mind borne down, lest the fierce and passionate resentment to which this
event has given rise, may interfere with the due performance of those
sacred functions which you are now called upon to discharge. Yet, gentlemen,

will I not give way to feelings of despair, or address you in the language of
despondency. I am not unmindful of the presence in which I am to plead
for the life of my client. I have before me British judges, to whom I
pay no idle compliment when I say that they are possessed of all the qualities
which can adorn their exalted station, or ensure to the accused a fair, a
patient, and an impartial hearing—I am addressing a British jury—a tri-
bunal to which truth has seldom been a suppliant in vain—1I stand in a British
court,where Justice,with Merey for her handmaid, sits enthroned on the noblest
of heraltars, dispelling by the brightness of her presence the clouds which oceas
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by briefly stating its general character. It will be of a twofold deseription.
It will not be such as that by which my learned friend the Solicitor-General
has sought to anticipate the defence, and to establish the sanity of the pri-
soner. It will ‘not be of that naked, vague, indefinite, and uncertain cha-
racter; it will be testimony positive and precise, and I say, from the bottom
of my heart, that I believe it will carry conviction to the mind of eve

one who shall hear it. It will be the evidenee of persons who have known
the prisoner from his infaney—of parties who have been brought into close
and intimate contact with him—it will be the evidence of his relations, his
friends, and his connexions; but as the evidence of near relations and
connexions is always open to suspicion and distrust, I rejoice to say that it
will consist also of the stalements of persons whose testimony will be beyond
the reach of all suspicion or dispute. Gentlemen, I will call before you
the authorities of his native place, to one and all of whom this unfortunate
calamity with which it has pleased Providence to afflict the prisoner at the bar
was distinetly known—to all of whom he has from time to time, and again
and again, applied for protection from the fancied miseries which his dis-
ordered imagination produced : all of them I will eall, and their evidence
will leave no doubt upon your minds that this man has been the victim
of a fierce and fearful delusion, which, after theintellect had become diseased,
the moral sense broken down, and self-control destroyed, has led him on to
the perpetration of the crime with which he now stands charged. In addi-
tion to this evidence, I shall call before you members of the medical
profession—men of intelligence, experience, skill, and undoubted probity—
who will tell you upon their oaths that it is their belief, their deliberate
opinion, their deep convietion, that this man is mad, that he is the ereature
of delusion, and the vietim of ungovernable impulses, which wholly take away
from him the character of a reasonable and responsible being. I need not
point out to you the great importance and value of the latter description of
testimony. You will not, I am sure, think that what I say is with the view, in
the slightest degree, of disparaging your capacity, or of doubting your judg-
ment, when I venture to suggest to you that of all the questions which can
possibly come before a tribunal of this kind, the question of insanity is one
which (except in those few glaring cases where its effects pervade the whole
of a man’s mind) is the most difficult upon which men not scientifically ac-
quainted with the subject can be called upon to decide, and upon which the
greatest deference should be paid to the opinions of those who have made
the subject their peculiar study. It is now, I believe, a matter placed be-
yond doubt that madness is a disease of the body operating upon the mind,
a disease of the cerebral organization; and that a precise and accurate
knowledge of this disease can only be acquired by those who have made it
the subject of attention and experience, of long reflection, and of diligent
investigation. The very nature of the disease necessitates the seclusion of =
those who are its vietims from the rest of the world. How can we, then,
who in the ordinary course of life are brought into contact only with the

sane, be competent to judge of the nice and shadowy distinetions which mark
the boundary line between mental soundness and mental disease? I do
not ask you, gentlemen, to place your judgment at the mercy, or to sur-
render your minds and understanding to the opinions, of any set of men—
for after all, it must be left to your consciences to decide,—I only point
out to you the value and importance of this testimony, and the necessity there
is that you should listen with patient attention to the evidence of men of qklﬁ
and science, who have made insanity the subject of their especial attention.
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It now becomes necessary to consider what is the nature and degree of mental
disease which in the eye of the law will have the effect of divesting the party
afflicted with it from fegai responsibility for his acts. My learned friend the
Solicitor-General has directed your attention to the legal authorities which
bear upon this question; and, perhaps, when those authorities shall have
been minutely examined, no great difference will be found to exist between
my learned friend and myself. But lest any confusion should be produced
in your minds to the detriment of justice, you will forgive me if I pray your
attention to the observations which I deem it my duty to make on this branch
of the subject. I think it will be quite impossible for any person, who brings a
sound judgment to bear upon this subject, when viewed with the aid of
the light which science has thrown upon it, to come to the opinion that the
ancient maxims, which, in times gone by, have been laid down for our guid-
ance, can be taken still to obtain in the full force of the terms in which they
were laid down. It must not be forgotten that the knowledge of this disease
in all its various forms is a matter of very recent growth. I feelthat I may
appeal to the many medical gentlemen I see around me, whether the know-
ledge and pathology of this disease has not within a few recent years first
acquired the character of a science ? Itis known to all that it is but as yester-
day thatthe system of treatment, which in past ages—to the eternal disgrace of
those ages—was pursued towards those whom it had pleased Heaven to visit
with the heaviest of all human afflictions, and who were therefore best en-
titled to the tenderest care and most watchful kindness of their Christian
brethren—it is but as yesterday, I say, that that system has been changed for
another, which, thank God, exists to our honour, and to the comfort and
better prospect of recovery of the unfortunate diseased in mind! It is but
as yesterday that darkness and solitude—cut off from the rest of mankind
like the lepers of old—the dismal cell, the bed of straw, the iron chain, and
the inhuman scourge, were the fearful lot of those who were best entitled to
human pity and to human sympathy, as being the victims of the most dread-
ful of all mortal calamities. This state of things has passed, or is passing fast
away: DBut in former times when it did exist, you will not wonder
that these unhappy persons were looked upon with a different eye. Thank
God, atlast—thoughbutat last—humanity and wisdom have penetrated, hand
in hand, into the dreary abodes of these miserable beings, and whilst the one
has poured the balm of consolation into the bosoms of the afflicted, the other
has held the light of science over our hitherto imperfect knowledge of this
‘dire disease, has ascertained its varying character, and marked its sha-
d:::w]r boundaries, and taught us how, in gentleness and merey, best to
minister to the relief and restoration of the sufferer! You can easily under-
stand, gentlemen, that when it was the practice to separate these unhappy
beings from the rest of mankind and to subject them to this cruel treatment,
the person whose reason was hut partially obseured would ultimately,
and perhaps speedily,in most cases, be converted into a raving madman. You
can easily understand, too, that, when thus immured and shut up from the
nspection of public inquiry, neglected, abandoned, overlooked—all the
p.acuhar forms, and characteristics, and changes of this malady were lost
sight of and unknown,and kept from the knowledge of mankind at large, and
therefore how difficult it was to judge correctly concerning it. Thus I
am enabled to understand how it was that crude maxims and singular
Em;mmhﬂna founded upon the hitherto partial knowledge of this disease,
ave been put forward and received as authority, although utterly inappli-
cable to many of the cases arising under the varied forms of insanity.
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Science is ever on the advance ; and no doubt, science of this kind, like all
other, is in advance of the generality of mankind. Itis a matter of science
altogether; and we who have the ordinary duties of our several stations
and the business of our respective avocalions to occupy our full attention,
eannot be so well informed upon it as those who have scientifically pursued
the study and the treatment of the disease. I think, then, we shall be fully
Justified in turning to the doetrines of matured science rather than to the
maxims put forth in times when neither knowledge, nor philanthropy, nor
philosophy, nor common justice, had their full operation in discussions of
this nature. My learned friend, the Solicitor-General, has read to you the
authority of Lord Hale upon the subject matter of this inquiry. I hold in
my hand perhaps the most scientific treatise that the age has produced
upon the subject of insanity in relation to jurisprudence®*—it is the work
of Dr. Ray, an American writer on medical jurisprudence, and a pro-
fessor in one of the great national establishments of that country. Dr.
Ray has considered the subject of my present -observations, and in
speaking of it he says, at the very beginning of his work, “ Statutes
were framed and principles of law laid down regulating the legal relations
of the insane, long before physicians had obtained any accurate notions
respecting their malady ; and, as might naturally be expected, error and
injustice have been committed to an incalculable extent, under the sacred
name of law. The actual state of our knowledge of insanity, as well as of
other diseases, so far from being what it has always heretofore been, is the
accumulated result of the observations which, with more or less accuracy
and fidelity, have been prosecuted through many centuries, under the
guidance of a more or less induective philosophy. In addition to the
obstacles to the progress of knowledge respecting other diseases, there
has been this also in regard to insanity, that being considered as resulting
from a direct exercise of Divine power, and not from the operation of the
ordinary laws of nature; and thus associated with mysterious and superna-
tural phenomena, confessedly above our comprehension, inquiry has been
discouraged at the very threshold, by the fear of presumption, or at least of
fruitless labour.” Such are the introductory observations of this able writer
on this subject. He goes on to say, touching the doetrine of Lord Hale—
“ Though little of pertinacious adherence to merely technical distinctions
is observed in the application of the law to criminal cases,” (he had previ-
ously been commenting on certain technical distinetions which pre-
vail in the law as to insanity in civil matters,) * yet there is much of
the same respect for antiquated maxims, that have little else to recom-
mend them but their antiquity, and are so much the more pernicious
in their application, as the interests of property are of less importance than
reputation and life. It by no means follows that a person declared to be
non compos by due process of law, is to be considered on that account
merely to be irresponsible for his eriminal acts. This is a question entirely
distinet, and is determined upon very different views of the nature of
insanity, and of its effects upon the operations of the mind ; and here it is
that the lawyer encroaches most on the domain of the physician. The first
attempt to point out precisely those conditions of insanity in which the Ew:.l
and criminal responsibilities are unequally affected, was made by Lord Hale.

Then he quotes from Lord Hale a passage you heard read yesterday :—
¢ 1, There is a partial insanity of the mind; and, 2. a total insanity. The
former is either in respeet to things quoad fhoc vel illud insanire—some per-

* A Treatise on the medical jurisprudence of Insanity, by I. Ray, M.D. Doston, 1838,
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sons that have a competent use of reason in respect of some subjects are yet
under a particular dementia in respect of some particular discourses, sub-
jeets, or applications : or else it is partial in respect of degree; and this is
the condition of very many, especially melancholy persons, who, for the most
part, discover their defect in excessive fears and lgnfaf'-s, uﬁnd yet are not
wholly destitute of the use of reason : and this partial insanity seems not to
excuse them in the committing of any offence for its matter capital ; for,
doubtless, most persons who are felons of themselves, and others, are qqder
a degree of partial insanity. It is very difficult to determine the indivisible
line that divides perfect and partial insanity ; but it must rest upon eircum-
stances duly to be weighed and considered, both by judge and jury, lest, on
the one side, there be a kind of inhumanity towards the defects of human
nature ; or, on the other side, too great an indulgence given to great crimes,
The best measure that I ean think of is this: such a person as labouring
under melancholy distempers hath yet ordinarily as great understanding as
ordinarily a child of fourteen years hath, is such a person as may be guilty
of treason or felony.”” Having quoted that passage, he says—* The doc-
trines thus dogmatically laid down by Lord Hale have exerted no incon-
siderable influence on the judicial opinions of his successors ; and his high
authority has always been invoked against the plea of insanity whenever it
has been urged by the voice of philanthropy and true science. If, too,
in consequence of the common tendency of indulging in forced and unwar-
rantable constructions whenever a point is to be gained, his principles have
been made to mean far more than he ever designed, the fact impressively
teaches the importance of clear and well-defined terms in the expression of
scientific truths, as well as of enlarged practical information relative to the
subjects to which they belong. In the time of this eminent jurist, insanity
was a much less frequent disease than it now is, and the popular notions
concerning it were derived from the observation of those wretched inmates
of the mad-houses whom chains and stripes, eold and filth, had reduced to
the stupidity of the idiot, or exasperated to the fury of a demon. Those
nice shades of the disease in which the mind, without being wholly driven
from its propriety, pertinaciously clings to some absurd delusion, were
either regarded as something very different from real madness, or were too
far removed from the common gaze, and too soon converted by bad ma-
nagement into the more active forms of the disease, to enter much into the
general idea entertained of madness. Could Lord Hale have contemplated
‘the scenes presented by the lunatic asylums of our own times, we should
undoubtedly have received from him a very different doctrine for the regu-
lation of the decisions of after generations.” In like manner writes a physi-
cian of our own nation, who, I believe, is admitted by all persons familiar with
this science, to be of equal authority with the most learned and scientifie
inquirers of the day,—I mean Dr. Prichard. He gives first the passage from
Lur_d' Hale, and speaks of his attempt to lay down a eriterion for coming to a
&Em.'-_mn in cases of insanity. After referring to Hale's definition, he says—
“T]'I:I.E measure of the understanding might be in some manner applicable to
the different degrees of imbecility or mental weakness ; but it would be impos-
sible to refer to it any case of insanity, properly so termed, in which the
powers of intellect are rather perverted and wrongly exercised, than obli-
terated or effaced. Tt would seem as if it were Lord Hale's opinion, that
madness, properly so termed, produced no irresponsibility for crimes. Few
or none of those who have attempted or perpetrated homicide, and who
have been determined by judges, either in England or elsewhere, to be of
unsound mind, and therefore not punishable for such acts, could have
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escaped, if Lord Hale's precept had been followed. It must be confessed
that the attempt made by this great jurist to lay down a rule for the guid-
ance of opinions in such cases has completely failed.”* This is not the first
time, gentlemen, that this doctrine of Lord Hale has been discussed, with
the view. to ascertain its true interpretation. One of those master minds
whose imperishable productions form part of the intellectual treasure and
birthright of their country—the great Lord Erskine, whose brilliant mind
never shone forth more conspicuously than upon the oceasion to which
I am about to allude, and whose sentiments it would be presumption and
profanation to give in other than the language which fell from his own
gifted lips, at the celebrated trial to which allusion was made by m

learned friend, put the true interpretation upon the doetrine of Lord Hale.
I will read the passage, and I know you will pardon me the time I occupy ;
for who would not gladly spare the time to listen to observations coming
from such a man, on so momentous an inquiry ? Lord Erskine said :—¢* The
Attorney-General, standing, undoubtedly, upon the most revered authorities
of the law, has laid it down, that to protect a man from eriminal responsi-
bility there must be a total deprivation of memory and understanding. I
admit that this is the very expression used both by Lord Coke and by Lord
Hale ; but the true interpretation of it deserves the utmost aitention and
consideration of the court. If a total deprivation of memory was intended
by those great lawyers to be taken in the literal sense of the words—if it
was meant that, to protect a man from punishment, he must be in such a
state of prostrated intellect as not to know his name, nor his condition, nor
his relation towards others—that, if a husband, he should not know he was
married ; or, if afather, could not remember that he had children, nor know
the voad to his house, nor his property in it—then no such madness ever
existed in the weorld. It is idiocy alone which places a man in this helpless
condition, where, from an original mal-organization, there is the human
frame alone without the human capacity, and which, indeed, meets the very
definition of Lord Hale himself, when, referring to Fitzherbert, he says—
¢« Idiocy or fatuity & nativitate, vel dementia naturalis, is such a one as de-
seribed by Fitzherbert, who knows not to tell twenty shillings, nor knows
his own age, nor who was his father.” But, in all the cases which have filled
Westminster Hall with the most complicated considerations, the lunatics,
and other insane persons who have been the subject of them, have not only
had memory in my sense of the expression—they have not only had the
most perfect knowledge and recollection of all the relations they stood in
towards others, and of the acts and cirecumstances of their lives, but have
in general heen rvemarkable for subtlety and acuteness. Defects in their
reasonings have seldom been traceable—the disease consisting in the
delusive sources of thought—all their deductions within the scope of
the malady being founded upon the immovable assumption of matters
as realities, either without any foundation whatsoever, or so distorted and
disfigured by fancy, as to be almost nearly the same thing as their crea-
tion. It is true, indeed, that in some, perhaps in many cases, the hu-
man mind is stormed in its citadel, and laid prostrate under the stroke
of frenzy; these unhappy sufferers, however, are not so much con-
sidered by physicians as maniacs, but to be in a state of delirium,
as from fever. There, indeed, all the ideas are overwhelmed, for reason is
not merely disturbed, but driven wholly from her seat.  Such unhappy per-
soms are unconscious, therefore, except at short intervals, even of external

* it On the Different Forms of Insanity, in Relation to Jurisprudence, by James Cowles
Prichard, M, D, London, 1842."
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friend, the Solicitor-General, has cited to you one or two other cases which
I will dispose of in a very few words. A prominent case in his list is that
of Earl Ferrers, Here, too, I am glad that my learned friend has referred to
the celebrated case of Hadfield, beeause that ease furnishes me with some
valuable observations of Lord Erskine’s, made on Hadfield’s trial, which
will enable me to shew how that great authority disposed of two of the
cases relied on by my learned friend. I prefer to read to you, gen-
tlemen, those observations rather than trouble you with any of my own.
After stating Lord Ferrers’ case and drawing the distinetion between the
species of insane delusion which produces erratic acts, and that species of
insanity which I trust I shall be able to prove to you possessed the pri-
soner now at the bar, Lord Erskine says, ¢ 1 have now lying before me the
case of Earl Ferrers. Unquestionably there could not be a shadow of doubt,
and none appears to have been entertained, of his guilt. I wish, indeed,
nothing more than to contrast the two cases: and so far am I from dis-
puting either the principle of that condemnation, or the evidence that was
the foundation of it, that I invite you to examine whether any two instances
in the whole body of the criminal law are more diametrically opposite to each
other than the case of Earl Ferrers and that now before you. Lord Ferrers
was divorced from his wife by act of Parliament ; and a person of the name
of Johnson, who had been his steward, had taken part with the lady in that
proceeding, and had conducted the business in carrying the act through
the two Houses. Lord Ferrers consequently wished to turn him out of a
farm whieh he occupied under him ; but his estate being in trust, Johnson
was supported by the trustees, in his possession. There were also some
differences respecting coal-mines, and in consequence of both transactions
Lord Ferrers took up the most viclent resentment against him. Let me
here observe,” continues Lord Erskine, ¢that this was not a resentment
founded upon any illusion; not a resentment forced upon a distempered
mind by fallacious images, but depending upon actual circumstances and
real facts; and acting like any other man under the influence of malignant
passions, he repeatedly declared that he would be revenged on Mr. Johnson,
particularly for the part he had taken in depriving him of a contraet respect-
ing the mines. Now, suppose that Lord Ferrers could have shewed that no
difference with Mr. Johnson had ever existed regarding his wife at all, that
Mr: Johnson had never been his steward, and that he had only, from delu-
sion, believed so when his situation in life was quite different. Suppose,
further, that an illusive imagination had alone suggested to him that he had
been thwarted by Johnson in his eontract with these coal-mines, there never
having been any contract atall for eoal-mines ; in short, that the whole basis
of his enmity was without any foundation in nature, and had been shewn to
have been a morbid image imperiously fastened upon his mind. Such
a case as that would have exhibited a character of insanity in Lord Ferrers,
extremely different from that in which it was presented by the evidence of
his peers. Before them he only appeared as a man of turbulent passions,
whose mind was disturbed by no fallacious images of things without
existence, whose quarrel with Johnson was founded upon no illusions, but
upon existing facts, and whose resentment proceeded to the fatal consum-
mation with all the ordinary indications of mischief and malice, and who
conducted his own defence with the greatest dexterity and skill. Who
then could doubt that Lord Ferrers was a murderer 7 When the act was
done, he said—¢ I am glad I have done it. He was®a villain, and I am
revenged ; but when he afterwards saw that the wound was probably
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to die than to live so miserably, and manifested no eompunetion for
what he had done. Under the influence of these delusions he shot at
and wounded Lord Onslow.” Dr. Ray goes on to say—¢ The proof of in-
sanity was strong enough, but not that degree of it, which the jury considered
sufficient to save him from the gallows, and he was accordingly sentenced to
be hung. TLord Onslow himself, however, thought differently ; and, by
means of his intercession, the sentence was not executed, and Arnold was
continued in prison for life.” Dr. Ray then makes this observation on the
case—* It is clear, that the court recognised that class of madmen only, as
exempted from the penal consequences of erime, whose reason is completely
dethroned from her empire, and who are reduced to the condition of an
infant, a brute, or a wild beast. If it be true, that such, as the court said,
are never the objects of punishment, though it neglected to state that they
are never the objects of prosecution, the converse must be equally true,
that those not exactly in this condition can never avoid punishment on the
plea of insanity. It appears, then, that the law at that time did not con-
sider an insane person irresponsible for erime, in whom there remained the
slightest vestige of rationality ; though it did then and has ever since de-
prived him of the management of himself and his affairs, and vitiates his
civil acts, even when they have no relation to the circumstances that cansed
his madness.” This, gentlemen, is one of the cases in which this most able
writer on Medical Jurisprudence, combining with great reasoning powers
and general scientific knowledge, his own personal experience as a physician,
and taking the most enlightened view of the subject, not with a mawkish
and sentimental, but with a manly and sound philesophy, considers that
the doctrines laid down when the subject was not sufficiently apprehended
and understood, have led to the fatal results in the administration of
justice. Gentlemén, I will now go on to another case cited by my learned
friend the Solicitor-General. I allude to the case of Bowler, which is
reported in Collinson on Lunacy. 1 trust, gentlemen, I shall not be
considered open to the imputation of arrogance, or as travelling out of
the line of my duty on the present occasion, if I say that I cannot bring
myself to look upon that case without a deep and profound sense of shame
and sorrow that such a decision as was there come to, should ever have
been resolved upon by a British jury, or sanctioned by a British Judge.
What, when I remember that in that case Mr, Warburton, the keeper of a
lunatic asylum, was called and examined, and that he stated that the
prisoner Bowler had, some months previously, been brought home
apparently lifeless, since which time he had perceived a great alteration
in his conduct and demeanour; that he would frequently dine at nine
o’clock in the morning, eat his meat almost raw, and lie on the grass ex-
posed to rain; that his spirvits were so dejected that it was necessary to
watch him lest he should destroy himself—when I remember that it was
further proved in that case that it was characteristic of insanity occasioned
by epilepsy for the patients to imbibe violent antipathies against particular
individuals, even their dearest friends, and a desire of taking vengeance
upon them, from causes wholly imaginary, which no persuasion could re-
move, and yet the patient might be rational and collected upon every other =
subject,—when I also recollect that a commission of lunacy had been issued =
and an inquisition taken upon it, whereby the prisoner was found to have
been insane from a period anterior to the offence,—when all these recollec-
tions cross my mind, I cannot help looking upon that case with feelings
bordering upon indignation. But, gentlemen, I rejoice to say—because it
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his conviction, in which he was firm almost to the last, that his losses would
be made good by the government, even after he had been repeatedly told,
in consequence of repeated applications in various quarters, that the govern-
ment would not interfere in his affairs ; and his determination, on the failure
of all other means to bring his affairs before the country, to effect this pur-
pose by assassinating the head of the government, by which he would have
an opportunity of making a public statement of his grievances and obtain-
ing a triumph, which he never doubted, over the attorney-general ; these
were all delusions, as wild and strange as those of seven-eighths of the
inmates of any lunatic asylum in the land. And so obvious were they, that
though they had not the aid of an Erskine to press them upon the attention
of the jury, and though he himself denied the imputation of insanity, the
government, as if virtually acknowledging their existence, contended for his
respnnsihiiity on very different grounds.” Gentlemen, it is a fact that Bel-
lingham was hanged within one week after the commission of -the fatal act,
while persons were on their way to England who had known him for years,
and who were prepared to give decisive evidence of his insanity. He was
tried—he was executed, notwithstanding the earnest appeal of Mr. Alley,
his counsel, that time might be afforded him to obtain evidence as to the
nature and extent of the malady to which Bellingham was subject. Again,
Dr. Prichard, also, speaking with reference to the same trial, says, « I
believe few persons now entertain any doubt of Bellingham’s insanity,”*
Moreover, on the ocecasion of the trial of Dxf‘urd’ip this court, the then
attorney-general, Sir John Campbell, now Lord Campbell, after Bowler's
case had been disposed of by the emphatic observation of Mr. Baron Alder-
son, expressed himself in these words, “I will not refer to Bellingham’s
case, as there are some doubts as to the correctness of the mode in which
that case was conducted.” I would that my learned friend the Solicitor-
General had taken on this ocession the same course, and had exercised the
same wise forbearance; because the doubts expressed by the late attorney-
general, as to the propriety of the conduct of that case, are not confined to
that learned person, it being notorious that very serious doubts as to the
propriety of that trial are commonly entertained among the profession at
large. Under such circumstances, gentlemen, I feel that it would have been
much better if your attention had not been directed to that trial as it has
been. I turn now to a very recent treatise on eriminal law, which I am
the more entitled to cite as an authority, because its learned author, Mr.
Roscoe, has been snatched from us by the hand of death, while his career
was full of that promise which his great attainments and varied learning
held out to us. Referring to the rule laid down in the case of Bel-
lingham, and which you have been told was adopted by Lord Lynd-
hurst in the * Rex v. Orford,” Mr. Roscoe says—* The direction does
not appear to make a sufficient allowance for the incapacity of judging
hetween right and wrong upon the very matter in question, as in all cases
of monomania.”+ Mr. Roscoe quotes some remarks by an eminent writer
on the criminal law of Scotland, Now, I may here observe, that I have
the authority of the present Lord Campbell, when attorney-general, in
Oxford's case, for saying that there is no difference between the law of
Scotland and that of England in this respeet; so that all which I may have
to eite with respect to the law of Scotland will be quite applicable to
the case in hand. Gentlemen, Mr. Roscoe goes on to say—* The follow-

* Prichard on Insanity, p. 20, + Itoscoe Digest of the Law in Criminal Cases, p. 876
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committing an offence against the laws of God and natare? His lovdship
referved to the doetrine laid down in Bellingham’s case by Sir James Mans-
field, and expressed his complete accordance in the observations of that
learned judge.” The verdict was—Not guilty. 1 think my learned friend
did not state to you the verdict.

Tue Soricitor GENERAL—I beg your pardon ; T did.

Mgr. CockpurN.—If so, I was in error, and on my learned friend's state-
ment, I withdraw at once the observation I made. I am sorry that I made
it ; and here let me take the opportunity of expressing my sense—and I am
sure my learned friend will not objeet to receive such a tribute from me—of
the forbearance and merciful consideration with which he opened and has
conducted this case. I am bound also to say, that whatever facilities could
be atforded to the defence, have been readily granted to the prisoner’s friends
by those who represent the Crown on this oceasion. But to resume. With
respect, then, to Orford’s case, I have only to remind you that Orford was
acquitted on the ground of insanity. Here, gentlemen, Ishall prove a much
stronger case; and when I have done so, you will, I feel confident, have no
hesitation in following the precedent set you by the jury in that case.
So much, gentlemen, for the legal authorities cited by my learned friend,
the Solicitor-General : but, after all, as was obzerved by him, this is not so
much a question of law as of fact. That which you have to determine is,
whether the prisoner at the bar is guilty of the crime of wilful murder.
Now, by ¢ wilful’” must be understood, not the mere will that makes a
man raise his hand against another; not a blind instinet that leads to the
commission of an irrational aet,—because the brute creation, the heasts of
the field, have, in that sense, a will ;—but by will, with reference to human
action, must be understood the necessary moral sense that guides and directs
the volition, acting on it through the medium of reason. I quite agree with
my learned friend, that it is a question—Dbeing, namely, whether this moral
sense exists or not—of fact rather than of law. At the same time, what-
ever light legal authorities may dfford on the one hand, or philosophy and
science on the other, we ought to avail ourselves of either with grateful
alacrity. This being premised, I will now take the liberty of making
a few general observations upon what appears to me to be the true
view of the nature of this disease with reference to the application of
the important principle of criminal responsibility. To the most super-
ficial observer who has contemplated the mind of man, it must be perfeetly
obvious that the funections of the mind are of a twofold nature—those
of the intellect or faculty of thought alone—such as perception, judgment,
reasoning—and again, those of the moral faculties—the sentiments, affec-
tions, propensities, and passions, which it has pleased Heaven, for its own
wise purposes, to implant in the nature of man, It is now received as an,
admitted principle by all inquirers, that the seat of the mental disease termed
insanity is the cerebral organization; that is to say, the brain of man.
Whatever and wherever may be the seat of the immaterial man, one thing
appears perfectly clear to human observation, namely—that the point which
connects theimmaterial and the material man—isthe brain ; and, furthermore,
it is clear that all defects in the cerebral organization, whether congenital—
that is to say, born with a man—or supervening either by disease or by
natural and gradual decay, have the effect of impairing and deranging the
faculties and functions of the immaterial mind. The soul is there as when
first the Maker breathed it into man; but the exercise of the intelleetual

and moral facultics is vitiated and disordered. Again; a further view of ‘i.
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taking into consideration the whole circumstances of the situation. Every judgment in
the matter of right and wrong supposes a case, or state of facts, to which it applies. And
though the panel may have tﬁat vestige of reason which may enable him to answer in the
general, that murder is a erime, yet it he cannot distinguish his friend from his enemy, or
a benefit from an injury, but conceive everything about him to be the reverse of what it
really is, and mistake the illusions of his fancy for realities in respect of his own condition
and that of others, those remains of intellect are of no use to him towards the government
of his actions, nor in enabling him to form a judgment on any particular situation or con-
junetion of what is right or wrong with regard to it ; if he does not know the person of his
friend or neighbour, or though he do know him, if he is possessed with the vain conceit
that he is come there to destroy him, or that he has already done him the most eruel inju-
ries, and that all about him are engaged in one foul conspiracy to abuse him, as well
might he be utterly ignorant of the quality of murder. Proceeding as it does on a false
case or conjuration of his own faney, his judgment of right and wrong, as to any responsi-
bility that should attend it, is truly the same as none at all. It is, therefore, only in this
complete and appropriated sense as relative to the particular thing done, and the situation
of the panel's feelings and consciousness on that occasion, that this inquiry concerning his
intelligence of moral good or evil is material, and not in any other or larger sense.

This, gentlemen, I take to be the true interpretation and construetion of the
law. The question is not here, as my learned friend would have you think,
whether this individual knew that he was killing another when he raised his
hand to destroy him, although he might be under a delusion, but whether
under that delusion of mind he did an act which he would not have done
under any other circumstances, save under the impulse of the delusion
which he could not control, and out of which delusion alone the act
itself arose. Again, gentlemen, I must have recourse to the observations
of that eminent man, Lord Erskine. I am anxious, most anxious on this
difficult subject, feeling deeply my own incapacity, and that I am but as the
blind leading the blind, (you will forgive me the expression;) I am, I
repeat, anxious to avail myself as much as possible of the great light which
others have thrown upon the subject, and to avoid any observations of my
own by referring to the remarks of much greater minds. I turn again,
therefore, to the remarks of Lord Erskine on the subject of delusion.
in the case which has so often been mentioned. The case here is one
of delusion—the act in question is connected with that delusion out
of which, and out of which alone, it sprung. ¢ Delusion,” says Lord
Erskine, ¢ therefore, where there is no frenzy or raving madness, is the
true character of insanity, and where it cannot be predicated of a man
standing for life or death for a crime, he ought not, in my opinion, to be
acquitted ; and if the courts of law were to be governed by any other prin-
ciple, every departure from sober rational conduect would be emancipation
from criminal justice. I shall place my claim to your verdict upon no such
dangerous foundation.”” And, gentlemen, I, following at an immeasurable
distance that great man, I, too, will place my claim to your verdict on no
such dangerous foundation. I must convince you,” said Lord Erskine,
“ not only that the unhappy prisoner was a lunatic within my own defini-
tion of lunacy, but that the act in question was the immediate unqualified
offspring of this disease.” I accept this construction of the law ; by that in-
terpretation, coupled with and qualified by the conditions annexed to it,
I will abide. " I am bound to shew that the prisoner was acting under a
delusion, and that the act sprung out of that delusion, and 1 will shew it.
I will shew it by evidence irresistibly strong ; and when I have done so, I
shall be entitled to your verdict, On the other hand, my learned friend the
Solicitor-General told you yesterday that in the case before you the prisoner
had some rationality, because in the ordinary relations of life he had mani-
fested ordinary sagacity, and that on this account you must come fo the
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ing of various erimes than madmen often do, and from precisely the same
causes. Their abstract conceptions of erime, not being perverted by the
influence of disease, present its hideous outlines as strongly defined as they
ever were in the healthiest condition ; and the disapprobation they express
at the sight arises from sincere and honest convietions. The particular
criminal act, however, becomes divoreed in their minds from its relations to
crime in the abstract; and being regarded only in connexion with some
favourite object which it may help to obtain, and which they see no reason
to refrain from pursuing, is viewed, in faet, as of a highly laudable and me-
ritorious nature. Ilerein, then, consists their insanity, not in preferring
vice to virtue, in applauding crime and ridiculing justice, but in being un-
able to discern the essential identity of nature between a particular crime
and all other crimes, whereby they are led to approve what, in general
terms, they have already condemned. It is a fact not calenlated to increase
our faith in the march of intellect, that the very trait peculiarly character-
istic of insanity has been seized upon as conclusive proof of sanity in doubt-
ful cases; and thus the infirmity that entitles one to protection, is tortured
into a good and sufficient reason for completing his ruin.” I trust, gentle-
men, that these observations, proceeding from a man of the most scientific
observation, having all the facilities of studying everything connected with
the subject, will not be lost upon you, I eould mention case after case—I
could eontinue till the sun should go down on my uncompleted task—I could
cite case after case, in which the intellectual faculty was so impaired, that the
insanity upon one point was beyond all doubt, and yet where there was upon
all others the utmost sagacity and intelligence. You will see that all the evi-
dence of my learned friend the Solicitor-General relates to the ordinary rela-
tions of a man’s life. That does not affect the real question. It may be that
this man understood the nature of right and wrong on general subjects—it
may be that he was competent to manage his own affairs, that he could fulfil
his part in the different relations of life, that he was capable of transacting all
ordinary business. I grantit. But admitting all this, it does not follow that
he was not subject to delusion, and insane. If I had represented this as the
case of a man altogether subject to a total frenzy—that ail traces of human
reason were obliterated and gone—that his life was one perpetual series of
paroxysms of rage and fury, my learned friend might well have met me with
the evidenee he has produced upon the present occasion ; but when I put my
case upon the other ground, that of partial delusion, my learned friend has
been adducing evidence which is altogether beside the question. I can shew
you instances in which a man was, on some particular point, to all intents
and purposes mad—where reason had lost its empire—where the moral
sense was effaced and gone—where all control, all self-dominion, was lost
for ever under one particular delusion ; and yet where in all the moral and
social relations of life there was, in all other respects, no negleect—no irra-
tionality—where the man might have gone through life without his infirmity
being known to any except those to whom a knowledge of the particular
delusion had been communicated. DBefore I read the two or three cases
which I shall select from the mass, I may as well advert to another topie
urged by my learned friend the Solicitor-General, which, in truth, is only

another branch of the same objection. My learned friend has re-

marked upon the silent design and contrivance which the prisoner mani-

fested upon the oceasion in question, as well as upon his rationality in the

ordinary transactions of life. But my friend forgets that it is an established

fact in the history of this disease, perhaps one of its most striking pheno-
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but during the whole time that he had been trinmphing over every at-
tempt to surprise him in the concealment of his disease. I then affected
to lament the indecency of my ignorant examination, when he expressed
his forgiveness, and said, with the utmost gravity and emphasis, in
the face of the whole court, ‘I am the Christ!" and so the cause ended.”
But to proceed: ¢ Again,”’ continues Lord Erskine, « this is not the only
instance of the power of concealing the malady ; I should consume the day
if I were to enumerate them ; but there is one so extremely remarkable
that I cannot help stating it. Being engaged to attend the assizes

Chester upon a question of lunacy, and having been told that there had
been a memorable ease tried before Lord Mansfield in this place, I was
anxious to procure a report of it; and from that great man himself (who
within these walls will ever be reverenced,) being then retired in his extreme
old age to his seat near London, in my own neighbourhood, I obtained the
following account of it:—¢ A man of the name of Wood,” said Lord
Mansfield, “ indicted Dr. Monro for keeping him as a prisoner (I believe
in the same madhouse at Hoxton) when he was sane. He underwent the
most severe cross-examination by the defendant’s counsel without exposing
his complaint, but Dr, Battye having come upon the bench by me, and
having desired me to ask him what was become of the princess whom he
had corresponded with in cherry-juice, he shewed in a moment what he
was. He answered that there was nothing at all in that, because, having
been (as everybody knew) imprisoned in a high tower, and being
debarred the the use of ink, he had no other meauns of correspondence but
by writing his letters in cherry-juice, and throwing them into the river
which surrounded the tower, where the princess received them in a boat.
There existed, of course, no tower, no imprisonment, no writing in cherry-
juice, no river, no boat, but the whole the inveterate phantom of morbid
imagination. I immediately,” continued Lord Mansfield, ¢ directed Dr.
Monro to be acquitted. But this man Wood, being a merchant in Philpot-
lane, and having been carried through the city on his way to the madhouse,
he indicted Dr. Monro over again for the trespass and imprisonment in
London, knowing that he had lost his cause by speaking of the princess at
Westminster ; and such,” said Lord DMansfield, “is the extraordinary
subtlety and cunning of madmen, that when he was cross-examined at the
trial in London, as he had successfully been before, in order to expose his
madness, all the ingenuity of the bar and all the authority of the Court
could not make him say a single syllable upon that topic which had put an
end to the indictment before, although he had the same indelible impres-
sion upon his mind, as he signified to those who were near him ; but,
conscious that the delusion had occasioned his defeat at Westminster, he
obstinately persisted in holding it back.” My learned friend at my right
(Mr. Monteith) has brought to my notice another case, which I will read,
because it is worthy attentive consideration, inasmuch as it shews another
instance of the deception a madman is eapable of practising. It 15
an instance of deception practised upon one of the most sagacious men
the law ever produced—I mean, the late Lord Eldon. In the case of
« By parte Holyland,” 11 Vesey, p. 10, Lord Eldon says, *“In another
case I succeeded in getting Lord Thurlow, after a very long conversation
with the party, to supersede the commission (of lunacy), and was satisfied
from many conferences with him that he was perfectly rational; but
immediately after the petition was heard, coming to thank me for my

exertions, he in five minutes convinced me that the worst thing I could
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have done for him was to get rid of the commission.” Here,_tlmn, gent!e-
men, you have the fact of the highly intelligent and sagacious mind of
Lord Eldon having been imposed upon by an individual who was an
awdmitted lupatic. But with regard to the question of subtlety, design, and
ontrivance, existing in an insane person prior to the commission of the fatal
act, give me leave once more to refer you to the work of Dr. Ella]r_. He says,
¢ Another trait, which has been greatly relied on as a criterion in doubtful
sases, is the design or contrivance that has been manifested in the com-
mission of the eriminal act. That it ever should have been viewed in
his light is an additional proof, if more were wanted, of the deplorable
gnorance that characterizes the jurisprudence of insanity ; for the slightest
practical acquaintance with the disease would have prevented this per-
ricious mistake. The source of this error is probably to be found in the
act ‘that among the vulgar, some are for reckoning madmen those only
who are frantic or violent to some degree,’ the violence being supposed to
preclude every attempt at design or plan of operations. In the trial of Bel-
ingham, the Attorney-General declared, that ¢if even insanity in all his
sther acts had been manifest, yet the systematic correctness with which the
prisoner contrived the murder, shewed that he possessed a mind at the time
apable of distinguishing right from wrong.'” This, recollect, gentlemen, is
he view with which alone my learned friend the Solicitor-General brings
hefore you evidence of design on the present occasion. But Dr. Ray* pro-
peeds—*“ In Arnold’s case, great stress was laid on the circumstance of his
having purchased shot of a much larger size than he usually did when he
went out to shoot, with the design then formed of committing the murder he
afterwards attempted. Mr. Russell recognises the correctness of the prin-
viple, and lays it down as part of the law of the land. 1f, however, the power
of design is really not incompatible with the existence of insanity, this pre-
ended test must be as fallacious as that already adverted to.” No one will
deny that proposition. If the test be not a true one, nothing can be
more dangerous to the purposes of justice than to allow it to be imported
nto your consideration., DBut, Dr. Ray goes on to observe—* What
must be thought of the attainments of those learned authorities in the
study of madness, who see in the power of systematic design a disproof
of the existence of insanity ; when, from the humblest menial in the service
of a lunatic asylum, they might have heard of the ingenuity of contrivance
and adroitness of execution that pre-eminently characterize the plans of
he insane? If the mind continues rational on some subjeets, it is no more
han might be expected that this rationality should embrace the power of
esign, since a person could not properly be called rational on any point in
egard to which he had lost his customary ability to form his plans and
ssigns for the future. These views are abundantly confirmed by every
ay’s observation. The sentiment of cunning, too, which is necessary to
e successful execution of one’s projects, holds but a low place in the seat
L the mental faculties—being a merely animal instinet—and is oftentimes
tved to be rendered more active by insanity, so as to require the
itmost vigilance to detect and defeat its wiles. One who is not practically
Rﬂquqinted with the habits of the insane, can scarcely conceive the
cunning which they will practise when bent on accomplishing a favourite
object. Indeed, it may be said, without greatly distorting the truth, that
the combined cunning of two maniacs bent on accomplishing a certain

* Ray's Med. Jurisp,, p. 28, sec, 21.
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object, is always a match for the sagacity of any sound individual. Those
for instance, whose madness takes a suieidal direction, are known to employ
wonderful address in procuring and concealing the means of self-destrue
tion; pretending to have seen the folly of their designs, and to have
renounced them entirely, sending away their keepers, after thus lulling them
into security, and, when least expected, renewing their suicidal attempts
When desirous of leaving their confinement, also, the consummate tact
with which they will set suspicion at rest, the foreecast with which they
make their preparations for escape, and the sagacity with which they choose
the time and place of action, would do infinite eredit to the conceptions of
the most sound and intelligent minds.” Dr. Haslam has related a case so
strikingly illustrative of this trait, and which is well deserving of atten
tion. “ An Essex farmer,” he says, ¢ after having so well counterfeited re
covery as to produce his liberation, and being sent back again, immediately
became tranquil, and remonstrated on the injustice of his confinement.
Having once deceived me, he wished much that my opinion should be
taken respecting the state of his intellects, and assured his friends that he
would submit to my determination. I had taken care to be well prepared
for this interview, by obtaining an accurate account of the manner in whicl
he had conducted himself. At this examination he managed himself with
admirable atdress. He spoke of the treatment he had received from the
persons under whose care he was then placed, as most kind and fatherly ; he
also expressed himself as particularly fortunate in being under my care,
and bestowed many handsome compliments on my skill in treating this
disorder, and expatiated on my sagacity in perceiving the slightest tinges
of insanity. When I wished him to explain certain parts of his conducty
and particularly some extravagant opinions respecting certain persons and
circumstances, he disclaimed all knowledge of such circumstances, and fel
himself hurt that my mind should have been poisoned so much to his
prejudice. He displayed equal subtlety on three other occasions when
I visited him, although by protracting the conversation he let fall sufficient
to satisfy my mind that he was a madman. In ashorttime he was removed
to the hospital, where he expressed great satisfaction in being under my
inspection. The private madhouse which he had formerly so much com
mended now became the subject of severe animadversion. He said that
he had there been treated with extreme eruelty—that he had been nearly
starved, and eaten up by vermin of various deseriptions. On inquiring of
some convaleseent patients, I found (as I had suspected) that I was as muelt
the subject of abuse when absent as any of his supposed enemies, although
to my face he was courteous and respectful. DMore than a month had
elapsed since his admission into the hospital before he pressed me for
my opinion, probably confiding in his address, and hoping to deceive mes
At length, he appealed to my decision, and urged the correctness of his
conduet during confinement as an argument for his liberation. But when
I informed him of eircumstances he supposed me unacquainted with, and
assured him that he was a proper subject for the asylum which he then
inhabited, he suddenly poured forth a torrent of abuse ; talked in the most™
incoherent manner ; insisted on the truth of what he formerly denied; "
breathed vengeance against his family and friends, and became so oul=
rageous that it was necessary to order him to be strictly confined. He
continued in a state of unceasing fury for more than fifteen months.” But as
Dr. Ray very truly observes, “the purely intellectual power of combining &
series of acts that shall accomplish or eventuate in certain results when pro==
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erly carried into execution, seems to be not only less frequently involved in
he mental derangement, but often to have received a preternatural degree
of strength and activity. Pinel speaks of a maniac who endeavoured to dis-
bover the perpetual motion, and in the course of his attempts constructed
ome very curious machines. The plans which the brain of a maniac
¢ho imagines himself a monarch is perpetually hatching for the manage-
ment of his kingdom, will bear to be compared with the political
chemes of some rulers, who are supposed to have the advantage
f sanity on their side.”* Gentlemen, I might quote many other cases to you,
s striking perhaps as those to whieh I have already called your attention.
These ave, I think, sufficient. The observations which I have cited to you
re the results of scientific inquiries—they rest for their basis upon experi-
ence ; they are the observations of men who have no interests to advocate,
who are likely to take no partial view, or to be operated upon by any bias.
Ihey have held the calm light of science over this intricate question ; and
ey have come to results which I have taken the liberty of laying before
you, acting on the belief that they will afford you the best aid to guide you
n this inquiry. What then, gentlemen, is the resnlt of these observations ?
What is the practical conclusion of these investigations of modern science
pon the subject of insanity ? It is simply this—that a man, though his
mind may be sane upon other points, may, by the effect of mental disease,
be rendered wholly incompetent to see some one or more of the relations
of subsisting things around him in their true light, and though possessed
of moral perception and control in general, may become the ereature and
the vietim of some impulse so irresistibly strong as to annihilate all possi-
sility of self dominion or resistance in the particular instance; and
this being so, it follows, that if, under such an impulse, a man commits
an act which the law denounces and visits with punishment, he cannot be
made subjeet to such punishment, because he is not under the restraint of
liose motives which could alone ereate human responsibility. If, then, you
shall find in this case that the moral sense was impaired, that this act was the
esult of a morbid delusion, and necessarily conneects itself” with that de-
usion; if I can establish such a case by evidence, so as to bring myself
vithin the interpretation which the highest authorities have said is the true
principle of law as they have laid it down for the guidance of courts of law
and juries in inquiries of this kind, I shall feel perfectly confident that your
verdict must be in favourjof the prisoner at thebar. With these observa-
tions Ishall now proceed to lay before you the facts of this extraordinary case.
My learned friend the Solicitor-General has already given you some account
of the prisoner at the bar, and I will now fill up the outline which my
learned friend has drawn. The prisoner, as you have been told, is a native
of Glasgow. At an early age he was apprenticed to his father, who carried
on the business of a turner in that city ; at the end of the apprenticeship
he became a journeyman to his father, having been disappointed in not
being taken by him as a partner. The prisoner, I should observe, is a natural
son, and probably did not meet with that full measure of kindness which is
usually shewn to legitimate offspring. At length he set up in business for
himself; and from the commencement it would appear, as truly stated by
f»'!_l_in mtnmea_f‘nr the prosecution, that he was a humaue man, of singularly
calm and mild temper, who never gave offence to any one—a man, in
51.'1'?1'1;, who never in any relation of life did anything to bring discredit
upon himself. ‘Whatever might have been the predetermining cause, whe-
er it was the result of circumstances, or owing to a natural defect of

* Haslam's Observations on Madness, p, 53,
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constitution, he appears to have been from the commencement a man of
gloomy, reserved, and unsocial habits. e was, moreover, as you will hear,
though gloomy and reserved in himself, a man of singularly sensitive
mind—one who spent his days in incessant labour and toil, and at night
gave himself up to the study of difficult and abstruse matters; but whose
mind, notwithstanding, was tinctured with refinement. As one trait of his
character, I would mention, that he was extremely fond of watching children
at play, and took infinite delight in their infantine and innocent ways,
I will prove, also, that he was a man of particular humanity towards
the brute creation, and that when he went out he was in the habit of
carrying erumbs in his pocket, to distribute to the birds, If in the course
of their walks his companions discovered a bird’'s nest, he would interfere,
and not allow them to approach it. These things are striking indications of
character, and certainly do not accord with the ferocity of an assassin. In
1834, or about that time, the prisoner was attacked with typhus fever. He
afterwards worked at the shop situate in the street mentioned yesterday,
and, subsequently, went to lodge in a house in Stockwell-street, in company
with a man of the name of Gilchrist, who will be called as a witness,
and who will desecribe what the prisoner was at that time. Even
then it will appear that the indications of that vestlessness of mind which
has brought him to the unhappy condition in which he now is, began to
shew themselves. I do not allude to the circumstances of these early years
as any proof of insanity, but I mention them only to shew the tendency of
the prisoner’s mental organization, because these premonitory symptoms
will explain the state of his mind at a subsequent period. At this time, it
will be proved, he began to be restless and sleepless at night; he frequently
disturbed his fellow-lodger by getting up in the night time and pacing up
and down the apartment which they occupied. Afterwards, in the year
1837, he went to lodge in the house of a man named Hughes, whom I
shall also call before the court. Hughes will tell you that at that time the
prisoner so disturbed his fellow-lodger by his sleeplessness at night, that on
two or three occasions he (the lodger) was obliged to get out of bed and
sleep upon the carpet of the floor rather than be subjected to the restless-
ness of the prisoner; he shortly afterwards left that place of residence
rather than be thus disturbed. You will be told that the prisoner was
occupied from early in the morning until late at night at incessant toil, and
that whenever he came home, either to breakfast, dinner, or supper, he first
cut his food with a knife, and then proceeded, while eating it with one hand, to
read some book which he held in the other. This was his invariable course
at all his meals ; the man was continually following some study, always upon
some very grave, involved, or abstruse subject. When he came home
from work at night, about ten o'clock, instead of retiring to rest, he
again directed his attention to his books, and thus would he remain till
the other inmates of the house had gone to rest; and even when, at
a very late hour of the night, he did retire to rest, it was not rest for him,

for that sweet sleep which is the birthright and inheritance of the labour- =

ing man—the reward of the poorer and humbler portion of the com-
munity — the blessing which nature gives them to counterbalance the
disadvantages of their condition—was a privilege which to the unhappy
prisoner at the bar was denied; for night after night, it would seem,
the same restlessness took place, the same perturbed slumbers were his lot.
It is an admitted fact, I believe, that the recumbent position which rest
requires, is unfavourable to mental diseases, and an aggravating cause of all
the symptoms of insanity., 1 mention these things to shew that, from the
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be, for a time, that they were but delusions, until their influence gradually
prevailing above the declining judgment, they at last assumed all the
appearance of reality, and the man became as firmly persuaded of the sub-
stantiality of these creations of his own fevered brain as of his very exist-
ence. Therefore it is that, coupling all the communieations subsequently
made respecting this man, with the fact of his giving up his business
under circumstances in whieh every inclination of his mind would have
led him to continue it—I can understand that those delusions had been for
a long time existing in his mind ; first, in an indefinite and shadowy form,
then assuming a vague outline, and afterwards growing and increasing until
they became stamped with the character of reality; and I believe, gentle-
men, that when all the facts are before you, you will have no hesitation in
coming to the conclusion that such was the case. But to proceed with this
painful history—in the year 1841 the prisoner had disposed of his business
under the circumstances which have been mentioned, and then went to live
at the house of a Mus. Patterson. She will be called in evidence, and will give
you a history of the prisoner from his infaney; she will coneur with the
other witnesses in telling you that a more mild and inoffensive man than he
has shewn himself during the greater part of his life does not exist. From
this witness you will also learn the nature of the delusions under which the
prisoner laboured, and to which I have already referred : she will tell you
that shortly after he had taken lodgings with her, he left without notice or
warning, and was absent a considerable time ; and it will be seen that during
that absence he believed himself to be the object and victim of the most un-
relenting persecution, that he imagined himself to be surrounded by per-
sons who wercattempting to injure him, and who had framed a conspiracy
against his comforts, his character, and even his life, and that whereso-
ever he went these persons still pursued him and gave him no rest either
by night or by day.. Wherever he was, these creatures of his imagination
still haunted him with eager enmity, for the purpose of destroying his hap-
piness and his life. Nothing, then, could be more natural than that a man
under such a persuasion should attempt to escape from the persecution which
he erringly imagined to exist, and to seek in some change of place and
clime a refuge from the tortures he endured. Alas! alas! in this man’s
case the question put by the poet of old received a melancholy response,—
ft—————Datrie quis exul
Se quoque fugit "
What exile from his country’s shore can from himself eseape?

When he left his own country he visited England, and then France; but
nowhere was there a “ resting-place for the sole of his foot.” Wherever he
went, his diseased mind carried with him the diseased productions of its own
perverted nature. Wherever he was, there were his fancies ; there were =
present to his mind his imaginary persecutors. When he planted his foot
on the quay at Boulogne, there he found them. No sooner was he landed
on a foreign soil, than there were his visionary enemies around him. Again
he fled from them, and again returned to his native land. Feeling the
impossibility of escape from his tormentors, what course did he pursue?
When he found it was impossible to go anywhere by night or by day to
effect his escape from those beings which his disordered imagination kept
hovering around him, what does he? What was the best test of the reality
of the delusion? That he should act exactly as a sane man would bhave
done, if they had been realities instead of delusions. And there is my answer
to the fallacious test of my learned friend the Solicitor-General. He did
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or four days he comes back and says that there are spies all around him, and
that the church of Rome and the police and all the world are against him.
Here you have in addition to the church of Rome, the “police” and ¢ all
the world.” Mr. Wilson spoke to him of the folly of supposing the ehurch
of Rome to be against him, and assured him that if the police did anything
against him, he, Mr, Wilson, would find it out. He comes again in the
course of a few days, and then, in addition to his former complaints, he
says, “ The Tories are now persecuting me on account of a vote I gave at a
former election.” You will at once comprehend, gentlemen, that the delusion
arose not from any part he had individually taken in politics—it was the
form which was assumed by a diseased mind, believing itself to be the
victim of persecution by anybody and everybody. First it was the * Ca-
tholic priests,” then it was ‘ the church of Rome, the police, and all the
world,” and then it was “the Tories.,” After that he called again upon Mr.
Wilson, to know what had been done for him, when Mr., Wilson, to
soothe him, told him that he had made inquiries ; and promised to speak
to Captain Miller, a superintendent of police. Upon that promise being
given, he went away; and returned again, and upon Mr. Wilson
telling him that he had been unable to see Captain Miller, the prisoner
expressed great disappointment; and Mp. Wilson again promised to see
Captain Miller. Again he called, and was told that Captain Miller said—
there were no such persecutors, if there were, he should know of it. The
prisoner said that Captain Miller was deceiving Mr. Wilson, as he knew
that his persecutors were more active than ever; that they gave him no
rest, day or night; that his health was suffering, and that the persecutions
he endured would drive him into a consumption. Mark that statement,
gentlemen ; couple it with the declaration he made after he was apprehended,
and it will enable you to judge of the state of the man’s mind at the time he
made that declaration; Again he goes away, and again returns; Mr.
Wilson makes some excuse, and so dismisses him : he does not come back
again for some months, when he returns to talk again of his persecutors,
This was in the summer, and the time was drawing nigh to the period of
this unhappy deed. Mr. Wilson will tell you, gentlemen, that when he
saw him at that time, his conduct had become more strange, and his
conversation more incoherent ; doubtless as time progressed, his disorder
was becoming worse. Having got rid of him, Mr. Wilson does that
which affords the best test of the sincerity of the conviction he will
express to you — namely, that he believed the man to be insane.
He goes to the man’s father, and represents to him what had passed,
and tells him that, in his opinion, it was unfitting for his son any longer
to be left at large. Gentlemen, there are other witnesses whose testimony
will be equally conclusive as to the insanity of the prisoner. I will place
in the witness-box Mr. Alexander Johnston, member of Parliament for
the burghs near Glasgow, on whom the prisoner called, within the last
twelve months, and told the same story concerning the persecution of the
police, the Jesuits, and the Tories. This notion concerning the Tories
was his last, and became his fixed and favourite hallucination. NMu.
Johnston reasoned with him; but to reason with him was vain. A second
time he sought Mr. Johnston’s advice how to disentangle himself from
his pursuers. Afterwards, Mr. Johnston left the neighbourhood, and went
to London. Ie then wrote a long letter to Mr. Johnston, making the
same complaint of persecution, and still seeking his counsel. Mr. Johnston
has destroyed the letter, but he will state its contents. Amongst the letters
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‘-’5:-3“. to Mr. Turner was to induce that gentleman to intercede with his (the
prisoner’s) father on his behalf, in order that the persecution he suffered
under might be averted. He said, also, that he had given a vote at an
election, which was the cause of all this persecution. The witness did not ask
him any further questions, as he saw he was deranged. But Mr. Turner will
inform you, that he, like Mr. Miller, the commissioner of police, did more.
He felt it a duty he owed both to father and son, as the minister of the con-
gregation, to go to the father, which he did, telling him his opinion that his
son was insane, and that he ought to be looked to. Would to God that
advice had been listened to! Would to God that warning veice had pro-
duced the effect which was intended! Then this melancholy catastrople
might have been preveuted! By judicious medical treatment, the man
might have been restored to reason ; or at all events, such means might have
been resorted to as the law allows for the protection of society. Oh, then,
what different results would have been produced ! The unhappy prisoner
might have been spared the horror of having imbrued his hand in the blood
of a fellow-creature—he would have been spared the having to stand to-day
at that bar on his trial for having committed the worst erime of which human
nature is capable: as it now is, his only trust must be in your good sense,
Judgment, and humanity,—in the opinion which you may form upon the evi-
dence which those who come from a distant part to throwalight on thesubject
will give you, and in such aid as my humble capacity enables me to afford
him. So much, gentlemen, for the evidence I shall give with respect to the
origin of this wretched assassination. My learned friend has called evidence
which throws some little doubt on the state of the prisoner’s mind during the
two or three months that intervened between September and the period I have
Just been referring to. It certainly, however, does not in the slightest degree
negative the case of insanity,.which my witnesses will clearly establish. Mrs.
Dutton, the woman with whom he lodged during the time he was in London,
has given you only that sort of negative testimony which can only springeither
from the absence of all opportunity of observation or from want of attention to
the matter in question. Every account she gives of his mode of life shews
that she had no opportunity of forming a judgment; He went out, it seems,
every morning at eight, he took no meals in the house, and returned only at
night, after absence during the entire day, when he lit his candle and went
to bed. She never was brought into contact with him, nor ever entered into
conversation with him, except in some casual observations about the Queen’s
visit to Scotland. Thus she never had any opportunity of judging of the state
of his mind ; and I leave it to you to say whether the evidence of a witness so
situated and so qualified is for one moment to be putin comparison with the
testimony which I shall adduce of persons who had ample opportunities of ob-
serving his early habits—his sullen moods of mind—his reserved manner—his
taciturnity—his avoidance of all conversation and society—eircumstances all
singularly corresponding with the symptoms of that peculiarstate and frame of
mind which there can be no doubt existed in this case, and which the highest
authorities go to shew is a striking indication of insanity. The evidence of
Mrs, Dutton, therefore, does not touch the ease at all. It is eclear, how-
ever, from her statement, that in the months of November and December
he was attacked with illness. IHow far that illness may have contributed
to work him up to the last impulse of his delusion—to the last paroxysm
of his insanity, might be a matter worthy of consideration, though I will not
now stop further to discuss it. But with regard to Mrs. Dutton, all the occa-
sions which she had of ascertaining the state of the prisoner’s mind, were
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—whose mind would not suggest that the act must be that of a frenzied
lunatic, and not of one possessed of his senses? My learned friend says
that, nevertheless, you are not to look to the question of motive, and he
appeals to history for instances where fanaticism and enthusiasm have ope-
rated on ill-regulated minds to induce them to commit similar crimes. I
might possibly object that these instances are not strietly in evidence before
you, but I will not adopt such a course, I admit, that in order to under-
stand the nature of insanity aright, we must look beyond the evidence in
the particular case. T will travel, therefore, with my learned friend beyond
the facts now before you, and will turn to history in order to aid our judg-
ment. I concede to him that fanaticism and enthusiasm operating on ill-
regulated minds have produced similar disastrous results on former occasions.
But look at the mode in which those motives operated on the minds of the
criminals, The religious fanatic sharpened his steel against his sovereign’s life,
because he was told by a fanatical priesthood that he was doing a service to
God and to religion—that he was devoting himself by that act to the mainte=
nance of God’s religion, and that while ineurring an earthly martyrdom, he
wag also ensuring to himself an everlasting reward. Again, I admit that
political enthusiasm has urged on others to similar crimes. Why? Be-
cause they acted under the belief that in some great emergency, while
they were sacrificing the moral law, they were ensuring the welfare of their
country. They were impelled by fanaticism in another form, by political
enthusiasm, by misdirected and ill-guided notions of patriotism. IEulitical
enthusiasm !  Where in this case is there a single trace of the existence of
such a sentiment in the mind of the assassin? Where has the evidence for
the '?hrusecution furnished you with a single instarce of political extravagance
on the part of this man? Is he shewn to have taken a strong fand active
part in political watters? Did he attend political meetings? 1s he shewn
to have been a man of ill-guided, strong, and enthusiastic political sentiments ?
There is not a tittle of evidence on that subject. Many among us entertain
‘strong political opinions. I do not disclaim them myself. I entertain them,
and most strongly too; but if I believed that they would make me love,
cherish, esteem, or honour any human being the less on account of his
holding different opinions, I would renounce politics for ever, for I would
rather live under the most despotical and slavish government than forego
aught of those feelings of humanity which are the charm of human life,
and without which this world would be a wilderness, Therefore, I say that
my learned friend hastened too rapidly to the conelusion he has come to,
when he says that the prisoner has committed murder under the influence of
political enthusiasm. My learned friend has not adduced a single exaggerated
expression of a political nature on the part of the prisoner ? It was for him
to make out a case of political enthusiasm. IHe has not only failed in so
doing ; he has not even attempled to take on himself the burden of proving
its existence. On the contrary, it appears that this man, being a man of
thinking mind (perhaps too much su{, though he would occasionally speak
on politics as on other grave matters, was of very moderate political
opinions ;—that so far from being a man likely to abet violence on the score
of political opinion, he denounced in the strongest terms the exiravagant
views and opinions of the chartist and radical leaders.  And when you tell
me, in answer to the remark that there was no visible motive in the prisoner
for shooting Mr. Drummond, that he was mistaken in his victim, and that
his blow was intended for Sir Robert Peel, I will prove to you that so far
from his entertaining any animosity towards that distinguished statesman,
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day. I cannot sleep at night in consequence of the course they pursue
towards me. I believe they bave driven me into a consumption. I am
sure I shall never be the man I formerly was. 1 used to have good health
and strength, but I have not now. They have accused me of crimes of which
I am not guilty ; they do everything in their power to harass and persecute
me ; in fact, they wish to murder me. It can be proved by evidence; that’s
all I have to say.” Save only that the enemies he spoke of, and their
persecution were the phantoms of a disordered mind,—his statement was true.

‘rue it was that he was a different man, in health of body, and in health of
mind—quite different in the régulation of his passions and propensities—he
that at home had been a quiet, calm, inoffensive man—one who never raised
his hand against a huiian being or created thing, had been converted by the
pressure of imaginary evils into a shedder of human blood, This statement of
the prisoner, which doubtless, at first, was received with suspicion, shows,
when coupled with his previous history, in a totally different light, and now
cannot be regarded otherwise than as the true and genuine expression of the
feelings whitﬁ: were alive in his breast. No wonder that in the first excite-
ment of popular feeling such a statement should be unfavourably received—
the people had seen an innocent and unoffending man perish by the hand of
an assassin—they were justified in viewing with distrust manifestations of in-
sanity which might be only assumed, but now, when the fearful delusions under
which this man has so long laboured are made clearly known to you, the whole
matter will, I am sure, be regarded by you under a totally different aspect.
But then the Solicitor-General speciously asks, whether this is not the case
of a man feigning and simulating insanity, in order to avoid the consequences of
hiscrime? It is not so—it is the case of a man who manifested, after the deed
was done, the same delusion, which will be proved to have been presentin his
mind for months—nay, years before the act was committed. But I shall
not leave this part of the case upon the prisoner’s statement alone, for I am
enabled to lay before you evidence that will satisfy your minds of the
prisoner’s insanity since he has been confined within the walls of a prison.
He has been visited by members of the medical Profcssﬁﬂu, of the highest intel-
ligence and the greatest skill—not chosen by the prisoner himself—but some
of them selected by his friends and others deputed by the Government which
my honourable and learned friend, the Solicitor-General, represents on the
present occasion. They visited the prisoner together several times—they
together heard the questions put to him, and noted the answers he gave.
My learned friend has accurately told you the nature of the defence I have
to offer; he has sought to anticipate it by evidence to establish the prisoner’s
sanity, How 1is it, then, that the medical men employed by the Crown
have not been called ? Why, my learned friend has now beside him, with-
in his arm’s-reach, two of the medical gentlemen sent by the Government,
and he has not dared to call them. My learned friend knew (because their opi-
nions have been communicated to the Government and to my learned friend)
that the man was mad, and in justice to the public and to the prisoner, those
sentlemen ought to have been brought forward. If the result of their
opinions had been made known—if they bad expressed their unalterable convic-
tion that the man was mad, I should have been spared the trouble and anxiety
of addressing the Jury; the case for the prosecution would have broken
down, and you, gentlemen, would have been told you could not consign to igno-
minions death a man, whom the medical authorities chosen by the Crown to ex-
amine him were compelled, by duty to themselves and to their consciences, Lo
declare to be insane. I was astonished when the case for the prosecution
was closed without those two witnesses being called. They sat within my
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could easily escape, and wait till he is seized by the officers of justice.”” But
what was the case in the present instance ? 'The prisoner does not attempt
to escape—he acts coolly and deliberately—he shews himself to be a maniac
seeking only the gratification of his involuntary impulse—he made no attempt
to secure his own safety by flight or escape, though he knew that the noise
of his first pistol must have attracted attention to the spot: though he saw
Mr. Drummond’s coat in flames, and his victim stageering under the shot,
though he must have known that his purpose was effected, instead of think-
ing of himself, he drew forth the other pistol—with a deliberate intent he passed
itfrom one hand to the other—he levelled it at his victim, and when the police-
man had even seized him, still the struggle was not to escape, but to raise his
arm and to carry out the raging impulse of his burning and fevered brain. A
common murderer would have acled in a different manner ; he would have
chosen a different time, a different place ; he would have sought safety by es-
cape. Gentlemen, I have mentioned that I shall call medical men of the
highest rank in the profession—men who have frequently been employed by
the Government in cases of this nature, and upon whose characters the stamp
of the highest approbation has thus been placed. They will state the result of
their examinations of the prisoner, and their evidence upon the whole will be
such as to leave no other than a firm conviction that he is insane. 1 shall also
call the surgeon of the gaol, whose duty it has been to see him daily, and whose
facilities of observation have therefore been such as to enable him to come to a
sound conclusion, and who, besides, was directed to pay particular attention to
the state of the prisoner’s mind. My friend has not thought fit to call him. I
will call him. You will hear from that gentleman the result of his deliberate
and impartial judgment, which is, that the prisoner is labouring under mor-
bid insanity, which takes away from him all power of self-control, and that
he is not responsible for his acts, When I have proved these things, I think
the defence will be complete. I do not put this case forward as one of total
insanity—it is a case of delusion, and I say so from sources upon which the
light of science has thrown its holy beam. I have endeavoured to shew the
distinction between partial delusion and complete perversion and prostration
of intellect. 1 may, however, perhaps be allowed to refer to one more author
on this subject. I allude to M. Mare, physician to the King of the French,
and one of the most profound investigators of this disease. 1 will translate the
passage as I proceed. M. Mare, in his Treatise “ De la Folie''* says, “ Homi-
cidal monomania is a partial delusion characterized by an impulse, more or
less violent, to murder; just as suicidal monomania is a partial delusion charac-
terized by a disposition, more or less voluntary, to destroy oneself. This
monomania presents two very distinet forms. In some cases the murder is
provoked by an internal, but raving conviction—by the excitement of a
wandering imagination—by a false reasoning, or by the passions in delirium.
The monomaniac is impelled by some motive obvious but irrational ; he

» M. Mare, De la Folie, p. 25, “La monomanie homicide est done un délire partiels
caracterisé par une impulsion plus ou moins yviolente au meurtre; tout comme la monoma=
nie suicide est un délire partiel, caracterisé par un entrainement plus on m:;-ins 'mlqmmm
i la destruction de soi-méme. Cette monomanie présente deux formes bien distinetes.
Dans quelques cas, le meurtre est provoqué par une conviction intime, mais délirante 5
I'exaltation de l'imagination égarée, par un raisonnement fanx, ou par les passions en déhire.
Le monomaniaque est mu par un motif avoué et déraisonnable; toujoursil offre des signes
suffisants du delire partiel de I'intelligence ou de I'affection. Quelquefois sa conscience
I'avertit de 'horreur de Uacte qu'il va commettre: mais la volonté leste est vaincoe par la
violence de l'entrainement ; 'homme est privé de la liberté morale; il est en proie 4 un délire
partiel, il est monomaniaque, il est fou, Dans d'autres cas le monomaniague homicide ne

presente ancune altération appréciable de l'mtelligx_‘:nge oi des affections. 11 est entrainé
par un instinct aveugle, par quelque chose d'indefinissible que le pousse & tuer.”
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this calamity, never would have heen committed. It is for you to say
whether you will consign a fellow heing under such circumstances to a pain-
ful and ignominious death. May God protect both yon and him from
the consequences of erring reason and mistaken judgment! In conclusion,
let me remind you, that, though you do not punish the prisoner for an
offence committed at a time when he was unconscious of wrong, you have,
on the other hand, the power of causing him to be placed in an asylum,
provided by the mercy of the law, where he will be protected from the
consequences of his own “delusions, and society will be secured from the
danger of his acts. With these observations I trust the case in your hands,

with the full conviction that justice will be upheld in the verdict to which
you shall come.

Daniel M*Nanghton, examined by Mr. Clarkson.—I reside at Glasgow, and am a turner
by business, The prisoner, who is a natural son of mine, was apprenticed to me, and after
he had served about four years and a half, became my journeyman, in which eapacity he
continued for about three years. I think it is about fifteen or sixteen years since he was
apprenticed. When he left me he went into business as a turner on his own account ; and

er he had been in bosiness, I think, about a twelvemonth, he removed to Stockwell-
street, where he remained for nearly five years. He was always a very steady, industrious
yonng man; and exceedingly temperate in his habits. After he went into business, I did
not see him so often, although I saw him then frequently. He seemed to me more distant
than formerly, but I knew of no reason for his being so. He would frequently pass me in
the street, and not speak to or notice me. I was aware that he lodged at Mrs. Patterson’s,
but never visited him there. At that time I knew he had disposed of his business, About
two years ago I recollect the prisoner calling at my house, and, upon sceing me, he ex-
pressed a wish to have an interview in private. We went into a room alone, and he then
told me that various persecutions had been-raised against him, and begged that I would
speak to the authorities of the town upon the subject, in order to have a stop put to them.
He particularly mentioned the name of Mr. Sheriff Alison, as one of the persons I was to
speak to. I asked who the persons were that persecuted him, and he told me that
Mr. Sheriff Alison knew all about it. I told him I was extremely sorry to hear that he
was so persecuted, and endeavoured to persuade him that he was labouring under some
mistake. I told him that T was not aware of any person being persecutive in Glasgow.
Finding that he was labouring under some delusion, I said nuthm%mme upon the subject,
but tried to turn the conversation. We then talked upon other subjects, upon all of which
he spoke rationally enough, He then asked me to get him a situation in some counting-
house in Glasgow. I promised him that I would endeavour to do so, but told him that T
thought he had in the first instance better go to some respectable teacher, and learn writing
and arithmetic. He said he would do so, and we then parted. About a week after that
interview, he again called upon me, and inquired whether I had, according to my promise,
caused the authorities to take any measures to prevent the persecution which was going
on against him? T told him that I thought after our last interview he would have gone to
school, and banished all such ideas from his mind. He then said that the persecution still
continued, and that he was followed night and day by spies; wherever he went, they fol-
lowed him. I asked him who the spies were, whether he knew any of them, or whether
he could point them out? ‘o which he replied, that it would be quite useless to point
them out, as they were always in his presence ; wherever he might be, whenever he turned
round, there they were. Iasked him whether he ever spoke to them, or they to him? He
said they never spoke to him, but whenever he looked at them they langhed at him, and
shook their fists in his face, and those who had sticks shook them at him. He also said,
that one of the men, whenever he looked at him, threw straws in his face. I asked him
whether, if I went'out with him, he could point ont any of the spies to me? He said,
¢« (Oh, no; if they see any one with me, they will not follow at all; it is only when I am
alone that they follow and annoy me.” I then asked him what he thought they meant by
shewing him straws? To which he replied, he presumed it meant that he was to be
reduced fo a state of heggary by them. I told him that if he really saw a person with
straws, in all probability it must be some person out of his mind. After some further con-
versation in the same strain, he begged of me, nay, insisted npon my calling on M, Sheriff
Bell, who, he said, also knew all about it. He asked me whether I knew Sheriff Bell?
I told him I knew him only by sight, having seen lum very frequently, but I had never
spoken to him, He again asked me whether I would call upon that gentleman, and re-
quest him to use his influence to put an end to the persecutions. I asked him what I was
to say to the sheriff when I saw him, and he told me that I knew better what o say than
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The Solicitor-General.—Then am I to understand that upon all other subjects he eon-
versed rationally ?

Witness.—Yes, upon all subjects, except the one I have mentioned,

Re-examined by Mr. Clarkson.—The prisoner continued to work at my shop after he
left my house. He frequently passed me in the street without taking the slightest notice ;
it was his own aet to do so, not mine. He was always a very harmless, inoffensive youth,
and appeared harmless when labouring under those delusions. I never heard of his
having evinced any disposition to do anﬂ injury either to himself or any one else.

William Gilchrist, examined by Mr, Bodkin.—I am a printer, and reside at No. 32,
Centre-street, Tradeston, near Glasgow. I have known the prisoner since the year 1834,
I first became acquainted with him In consequence of lodging with him at the house of a
Mre. Dalgleish, at Gorbals. We slept in the same bed, and continued to do so from the
month of April, 1634, to May, 1835, The prisoner used frequently to get up in the night
and walk about the room, uttering incoherent sentences, and making use of such ejacula-
tions as * By Jove,” * My God.” Heuttered them in a very serious manner, but not in a
very loud tone. Somelimes he would walk about the room by the hour together whilst un-
dressed, and then return to bed. Such conduet oecurred from time to time during the whole
period we lnﬂfvd together. His conduct was always that of a mild, inoffensive, and hu-
mane man. I have frequently seen him, when we have been going out to take a walk,
put erumbs of bread into his pocket to feed the birds with. He appeared to be very fond
of children, and I have observed him watch the children at play for hours; he said he
liked to see their innocence. The last time I saw the prisoner was in July, 1842, when
we walked together for a short distance. I then thought he was altered, both in manner
and appearance, for when I looked at him he always dropped down his head and looked
on the ground. I also observed that his conversation was not so connected as formerly.
I have known the prisoner sometimes in the course of the night, as well as at other
times, burst out into immoderate fits of laughter without any cause whatever ; at other
times he would moan, I never knew him to attend any political meetings, or express
any extravagant political opinions. When I last saw him he told me, in the course of
conversation, that when he was in London he went one night to the House of Commons,
and heard Sir Robert Peel, Lord John Russell, and Mr. O'Connell speak, and he ex-
pressed himself highly delighted.

. Mr. Bodkin.—What did he say ?

Witness.—He said he thought Sir Robert Peel had arrived at what Lord Byron had
said of him, * that he would be something great in the state;” he said he thought Lord
John Russell was very inferior as a speaker to Sir Robert Peel, and that Mr, O'Connell
was inferior to both. 3

Mr. Bodkin.—Did you ever hear him, either on that or any other oceasion, speak at all
disrespectfully of Sir Robert Peel ?

Witness.—Certainly not. ! ] ,

Cross-examined by Mr. Adolphus,—The ejaculations which I have spoken of, and also
the langhter, might have been caused by the recollection of something he had previously
heard, and of which I was not aware. 3 g i

Mr. Adolphus.—Did you ever hear him speak about Sir R, Peel’s political character ?

. Witness.—Never. .

Mr. Adolphus,—Or make use of any threat towards him?
I Witness.—No.

John Hughes, examined by Mr, Monteith.—1I reside at Glasgow, and am a tailor. I
know the prisoner in consequence of his having lodged at my house for seven months
during the year 1835, A person of the name of M*Cordigan also lodged with me, and slept
in the same bed with the prisoner, M‘Cordigan made several complaints to me about the
prisoner disturbing him during the night, and he left me in consequence. Whilst the
prisoner was in my house I slept with him two or three times, and I found him a most
uncomfortable bedfellow ; he would sometimes throw his arms about in all directions, then
he would kick; at other times he wrapped the bed-clothes round his legs, and kicked =
about in that manner ; he was very restless, although he slept extremely sound. Whilst
he remained at my house he never had any person call upon him. I observed that his 4-
manner and behaviour were generally very strange. He did not appear to be fond of
society, and scarcely ever spoke unless first spoken to, and then his replies were quick 3
and horried, as if he wished to avoid conversation. I also noticed that when any person
spoke to him, if their eye caught his he immediately looked down to the ground, as if
ashamed ; whenever he asked for anything he appeared confused. [His general hour for
going out in the morning was seven o'clock. He came to his meals regularly, and usoally
returned home about seven o'clock in the evening. When at his meals he was generally
reading, and would frequently sit up half the night to read after thq family had retired
to bed, In consequence of his very strange manner I gave him notice to leave, but he
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* Witness.—Why, that he was very hard-working and penurions ; he was also eccentric in
his dress. The last few times that I saw him I noticed that he was not quite so cheerful as
usual, though he was generally sullen and reserved, and always evinced a disposition to
evade conversation,

Mr. Justice Coleridge—What did you pay him for his business ?

Witness.—Eighteen pounds.

Mr. Justice Coleridge.—Did that sum include the tools?

Witness,—Yes ; but there were very few, and most of them were worn out.

Jane Drommond Patterson, examined by Mr. Bodkin,—I reside at Glasgow. I know
the prisoner. He lodged in my house about two years ago. After he had lodged with
me a short time I observed something very peculiar in his manner. His eyes presented a
very strange appearance ; he looked wild, and very different from what he used todo. He
was also very restless in his sleep. I observed the same restlessness in his sleep about the
same time that I observed the appearance in his eyes. He left me for a short time, but
returned again. Before he went away the first time I thought his eyes appeared rather
better, I frequently heard him moan and groan in his sleep, and sometimes he spoke as if
disturbed. Theprisoner was extremely retired in his habits, and during the time he lodged
with me he never had any person but one young man to call and see him. When he
returned after he first left me, he said that he had been m London and to France. He then
appeared very poorly ; he was not go stout.. After remaining about three months he went
away a second time, but again returned. He then told me that he had been a second time
to France, and his object in doing s0 was to purchase a commission in the army. I told
him he had better stop away altogether, to which he replied that he counld not stop either
in London or France, as he was constantly haunted by a parcel of devils following him,
and said they were persons from Glasgow. He appeared then rather angry. I spoke to
him upon the subject several times afterwards. I at length began to be afraid of him, and
expressed a wish for him to leave my house. He: said he would leave as soon as pos-
sible ; he could get situations anywhere, but it was of no use, as they were all haunted
with devils: On one oceasion, a few days before he left, which was in September, I found
some pistols in his room. I said, “ What in the ‘name of God are you doing with pistols
there?” He said he was going to shoot birds with them. I never saw the pistols after
that. Latterly he was in the habit of lying on the bed nearly all day. He sometimes
complained of lowness of spirits, and said he felt a great pain and burning in the chest.
On one oecasion, when I was speaking to him about getting a situation, he laid hold of me,
made use of an oath, and looked very wild. When he went away he took nothing with
him but the clothes on his back. I noticed when he went away that he locked very wild
and frightsome-like.
= Cross-examined by the Solicitor-General.—I noticed the peculiarity of his eyes when he
first came to lodge with me, but he did not mention anything about being haunted by devils
till three or four months afterwards.

Re-examined by Mr. Bodkin.—I knew a man of the name of Forrester, a hair-dresser
at Glasgow ; he made a communication to me respecting the prisoner. I met Forrester
in the streetone day when I was going to Sheriff Alison’s respecting the prisoner, when
he said he (prisoner) was a * daft” man. He wanted me to take him to Mr. Alison’s, but
I frefused to do so.

By the Solicitor-General.—Forrester has been to my house bat very seldom, not mere
than twice; my husband has been away from home for the last twelvemonth. Forrester
did not come to see me during my husband’s absence. I heard that he was at my house
in May last, when I was in London. He came to see the prisoner, Though I saw
Forrester every day, I seldom used to speak to him.

.'Henry C. Bell, Esq., examined by Mr. Monteith.—I am one of the sheriffs depute
of the county of Lanark, and reside at Glasgow. I do mnot know the prisoner personally,
but he very much resembles and I believe him to be the person who called upon me some
time ago (I think it must be about nine or ten months), and complained to me that he was
harassed to death by a system of persecution,which had for some time been adopted towards
him, and for which he could obtain no redress whatever. I told him I wouold render him
any assistance in my power, and asked him the nature of the persecution he complained of.
He made a long, rambling, unintelligible statement in reply, from which I gathered, as
far as [ can recollect, that he was constantly beset by spies, and that he considered his life
and property in danger. 1 told him that I thought he must be labouring under some very
ETrOneos impressinn, and advised him, if !.11: hlui any epmmnl ::ha.rge to make against any
person, to go to the Procurator-Fiseal, or if his complaint was of a civil nature, to apply to
some man of business, Hesaid it would be perfectly useless to make any such apflimtmn,
and appearing dissatisfied with my answer, he went away. The same person called upon
me again about a fortnight or three weeks afterwards, Iasked him whether he had seen the
Procurator-Fiscal or a man of business, and he said he bad not, IHe then made another
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know what had taken place, but he did not wait upon me, and I took no further steps in
ﬂ;t:g ntﬁu{. I felt no doubt at the time that the prisoner was labouring under some species
of insanity.

Cross-examined by Mr. Waddington.—I did not notice anything particular in the pri-
soner's appearance, and I should not have observed there was anything wrong about hi
had it not been for what he stated. Ie was a total stranger to me, and I should think the
conversation did not last more than five minutes,

The Rev. Alexander Turner, examined by Mr. Clarkson,—I am minister of the parish
of Gorbals, near Glasgow. About seven or eight months ago, I recollect the prisoner
calling upon me at my vesidence. He told me that he was the son of Mr, M‘Naughton,
the turner, who was a member of my congregation. He told me, that for some time past he
had been very much persecuted by a number of persons,who constantly followed him about,
and who annoyed him in varions ways ; that, in order to escape their persecutions, he had

ne to France, but had not been able to free himself from them. I think he said they

ad found him out in France ; and that, as he could not get rid of them, his life was ren-
dered perfectly miserable, and he talked about hein% haunted by them ; he also told me
that he had called, or was about to eall on the Sheriff and Sir James Campbell, and like-
wise upon the Procurator-Fiscal, but they refused to do anything for him. I observed
that he appeared to be labouring under a very great degree of excitement, which was evi-
dent from large drops of perspiration on his brow. I certainly thought that he was in-
sane. In consequence of that interview, I called upon his father a day or two afterwards,
and told him that I thought he ought to be put under restraint.

Cross-examined by Mr. Waddington,—To the hest of my belief, that conversation took
place about seven or eight months ago. I never saw the prisoner afterwards.

Mr. Hugh Wilson, examined by Mr. Bodkin—I am a Commissioner of Police at
Glasgow. Ihave known the prisoner for about ten or twelve years. I recollect his calling
upon me, about eighteen months ago, to make a complaint. After some short conversation
with him, I saw by his anxious manner that he had something to communicate, I asked
him what he wanted, and he said that he had come to consult me on a very delicate
matter ; and, after some hesitation, said that he was the ohject of some persecution, and
added, that he thonght it proceeded from the priests at the Catholic chapel in Clyde-street,
who were assisted by a parcel of Jesnits. I asked him what they did to him, and his reply
was, that they followed him wherever he went, and were never out of his sight, and when
he went into his bedroom he still found them with him, He was perfectly ealm and col-
lected when he first eame in, but when he began to talk about the persecution, he became
very much excited; and I then thought he was daft. I saw thathe was extremely anxions
upon the subject, and therefore told him to eall again on the following Tuesday, and I
would see what could be done for him. He then went away. He called according to ap-
En]ntmeat on the Tuesday, when he still persisted in the notion of his being persecuted.

wished him to give me some reason for supposing that he was persecuted, when he
again repeated his complaints against the Catholics. I asked him what he had done to the
Catholics ; to which he replied, that he only wished they would tell him what they wanted
with him. He also said there were other parties who annoyed him. I inquired who they
were ; when he said that some of the police were at the bottom of it, and I told him that
upon that subjeet I would make some inquiries. The prisoner said that the police had the
same appearance as the others, but he believed they were all in one coneern. Seeing that
I doubted what he stated, he said that if T knew what he saffered, T shounld not concelve it
a trouble to inquire into the matter for him. I promised that I would do so, and he went
away apparently satisfied. A few days afterwards I again saw him, when I told him Ihad
forgotten to make the inguiry, but promised to speak to Miller, the superintendent, about
it. When I again saw him, I told him that I had seen Miller, who said it was all nonsense
and there was nothing in it; to which the prisoner replied that Miller was a bad one, that
he saw it in his face, and he wanted to deceive both him and me, Having again run on
about the Catholics and the Jesuits, he went away. In two or three days he again called, and
on alluding to the snbjeet, said, the Tories had joined with the Catholics, that he could get no
rest either night or day, throngh their persecuting conduet, and he felt quite sure they wonld
throw him into a consumption. At that interview I told him he had spoilt the scheme which
I had planned for the purpose of finding out his persecutors, at which he appeared to be very
much disappointed. I desired him not to look either to the right or to the left, and, if pos-
sible, let them see that he did not observe them. He said he would do so.  After that in-
terview, I did not see him for three or four months, when he again eame to me and said,
he was worse than ever. I told him he should get out of their way. He said he had been
to Boulogne, and asked me if I knew the watch-box on the Custom-honse quay, there? I
told him I did. He then said that as soon as he landed, he saw one of his spies peep from
behind it, and added, that it was no use going further, into France, and spending his
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newspaper containing allusions which he was satisfied were directed at him ; he had seen
articles also in the Glasgow Herald, beastly and atvocions, insinuating things untrue and
insufferable of him ; that on one or two oceasions something pernicious had been put into
his food ; that he had studied anatomy to obtain peace of mind, but he had not found it,
That he imagined the person at whom he fired at Charing-cross to be one of the crew—a
part of the system that was destroying his health,

Mr, Cockburn,—When you referred to the person whom he had fired at at Charing-
cross, how did you put your question ?

Witness.—I cannot recollect the exact question. I have no doubt I asked him who he
thought the person was.
th_Mr. Cockburn.—State, Dr. Monro, as correctly as you can, what the prisoner said on

18 point,

Witness.—He observed that when he saw the person at Charing-cross at whom he fired,
every feeling of suffering which he had endured for months and years rose up at once in
his mind, and that he conceived that he should obtain peace by killing him.

M. Cgankhurn.—[ believe all the medical men heard the questions put to him and the
ATSWETS ©

Witness,—Yes, Drs. Bright and Satherland were present. I do not know if they saw
the prisoner yesterday.

Mr, Cockburn,—Do you think that your knowledge of insanity enables you to judge
between the conduct of a man who feigns a delusion and one who f‘ee‘ls it ?

Witness.—I do, certainly.

Mr. Cockburn.—Do you consider, Dr. Monro, that the delusions were real or assumed ?

h“’itpess. I am quite satisfied that they were real. I have not 4 shadow of a doubt on
the point.

r. Cockburn.—Supposing you had heard nothing of the examination which took place
in Newgate, but only the evidence which has been adduced in court for the last two days,
would you then say that the prisoner was labouring under a delusion ?

Witness.—Most certainly. Dr. Monro said, in continuation, that the act with which he
was charged, coupled with the history of his past life, left not the remotest doubt on his
mind of the presence of insanity sufficient to deprive the prisoner of all self-control. He
considered the act of the prisoner in killing Mr, Drommond to have been committed whilst
under a delusion ; that the act itself he looked npon as the crowning act of the whole
i:anatter—as the climax—as a carrying out of the pre-existing idea which had haunted him
or years.

I'Er. Cockburn.—Is it consistent with the pathology of insanity, that a partial delusion
maydexist, depriving the person of all self-control, whilst the other faculties may be
sound?

Witness.— Certainly ; monomania may exist with general sanity. He frequently knew
@ person insane upon one point exhibit “great cleverness upon all others not immediately
associated with his delusions. He had seen clever artists, arithmeticians, and architects,
whose mind was disordered on one point. An insane person may commit an act similar
to the one with which the prisoner is charged, and yet be aware of the consequences of
such an act. The evidence which he had heard in court had not induced him to alter his
opinion of the case. Lunatics often manifested a high degree of cleverness and ingenuity,
and exhibited occasionally great cunning in escaping from the consequences of such acts.
He saw a number of such cases every day.

Cross-examined by the Solicitor-General.—You have stated that Drs. Bright and Sath-
erland were present at the examination, Did they hear your examination of the prisoner ?

Witness.—Yes, they were present and heard the examination, They were there on the
part of the Crown. 1asked all the questions.

The Solicitor-General.—Is it not the practice of the Crown to have medical gentlemen
present at the examination of a person charged with such serious crimes as the prisoner is
now accused of ?

Witness.—I believe it is.

The Solicitor-General.
Crown ?

Witness,—I saw Oxford by myself—no other medical man was present.

The Solicitor-General. —Who were present when you examined M‘Naughton.

Witness.—Sir A, Morrison, Mr. M'Clure, Drs. Bright and Sutherland. On the two last
oceasions on which I saw the prisoner, Mr. Hutchinson and Dr. Crawford were present at
the request of the friends of the prisoner. They examined the prisoner almost exclusively
on that oceasion, and, in accordance with the usual practice, gentlemen in behalf of the

Crown also attended. ) f
The Solicitor-General.—I should like you to acquaint the Court with the exact form of

I believe you attended in the case of Oxford on the part of the
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Dr. Monro said a delusion like M‘Naughton's would earry him quite away. He thought
4 person may be of unsound mind, labour under a morbid delusion, and yet know right
from wrong. In many respects this was the case. ;

The Solicitor-General.—Have you heard of what is called moral insanity ? Have you
read the works of M, Mare?

Witness,—I understand what monomania means, It is attended by an irresistible pro-
pensity to thieve or burn, without being the result of particular motives.

Re-examined by Mr, Cockburn.—You said, Dr. Monro, that a person might lahour
under a particular form of insanity without having his moral perceptions ﬂerantg:d. For
lustration—a man may fancy lus legs made of glass. There is nothing in that which
could affect his moral feelings ?

Witness.—Certainly not.

Mr., Cockburn.—You have not the slightest doubt that M'Naughton's moral perceptions
were impaired #

Witness.—No.

Sir A, Morrison, M.D., examined by Mr. Clarkson.—I believe, Dr. Morrison, that you
were one of the gentlemen who saw the prisoner in conjunction with Drs, Monro, Suther-
land, and Bright?

Witness.—I did.

Mr. Clarkson,—You have been in Court during the whole of the day ?

Witness, —I have.

Mr. Clarkson.—Were you not present during the whole of the examination of the
prisoner in Newgate ?

Witness.—I was.

Mr. Clarkson.—After that examination did you arrive at any conclusion as to the
prisoner's state of mind ?

Witness.—I did.

Mz, Clarkson.—Please to state to the Court what your impression was.

Witness,.—That M‘Naughton was insane. )

Mr. Clarkson.—After having heard the evidence adduced that day in Court, has your
opinion undergone any alteration ?

Witness.—I am still of the snme opinion, that the prisoner was insane at the time he
committed the act with which he is charged.

Mr. Clarkson.—Yon have heard, I believe, all the evidence of Dr. Monro?

Witness.—I have.

Mr. Clarkson.—Io you concur with him in the view which he has taken of this case ?

Witness.—I do. .

Mr. Clarkson.—The prisoner’s morbid delusions consisted in his fancying himself sub-
Jject to a system of persecutions.

Witness.—Yes ; that was the peculiar cause of his insanity.

Mr. Clarkson.—What effect had this delusion upon his mind ?

Witness,—It deprived the prisoner of all restraint or control over his actions.

Mr. Clarkson.—Do yon speak with any doubt upon the point?

Witness.—Not the slightest,

Mr. Clarkson.—Has your opinion with regard to M‘Naughton's insanity, undergone
any alteratioh in consequence of having heard the evidence adduced in Court this day#

itness.— Not the slightest.

Mr. Clarkson.—Youn have had, T believe, considerable experience in these cases ?

Witness.—I have devoted my attention for nearly half a century to the subject of
insanity. :

ﬂma:;-examined by the Solicitor-General.—Do you think the prisoner of unsound mind?

Witness.—I do.

The Solicitor-General.—That his delusion consistedin his fancying himself persecuted
by a number of persous?

Witness.—Yes. i

The Solicitor-General.—Had you formed that opinion in consequence of reading the
depositions ? y ;

‘itness.—It is the result of :eaﬂing the depositions and examining the prisoner. I
had, however, arrived at a conclusion of his insanity before I read the depositions.

Mr. William M‘Clure, examined by Mr. Bodkin,—I believe you are a surgeon, living in
Harley-street.

Witness.—I am.

Mr. Bodkin.—IHave you been in practice for many years ?

Witness.—For the period of thirty years. -

Mr. Bodkin.—1I believe you saw the prisoner on four different occasions ¢

Witness,—Yes; Isaw him with Drs. Monro, Sutherland, and Bright.
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The Solicitor-General.—Nothing which you have heard during the last two days has
altered your mind on the subject ?

Witness,—My opinion of the prisoner's insanity is the same.

Re-examined by Mr. Cockburn.—When patients exhibit symptoms similar to those
which the prisoner manifested, they are generally, I believe, placed under restraint?

Witness.—Yes. Such symptoms often gradually develop themselves, whereas many
have these delusions for some time, and are harmless, and then they may suddenly impel
them to the commission of erime. I have known cases of that kind.

Dr. P. J. Crawford, examined by Mr. Bodkin.—Dr. Crawford, you are a lecturer on
medical jurisprudence at the Andersonian Institution of Glasgow ?

Witness.—I am.

Mr. Bodkin,—You saw M‘Naughton durinﬁis confinement in Newgate ?

Witness,—I accompanied the medical men last Thursday to Newgate for that purpose.

Mr. Bodkin.—Did you assist in the examination?

Witness.—I did.

Mr. Bodkin.—Have you heard the examination of Dr. Hutchenson ?

Witness.—I have. .

Mr. Bodkin.—And what is your opinion of his evidenee ?

Witness.—I concur in all he has said of M*‘Naughton's insanity.

Mr. Maecmurdo, surgeon, sworn, and examined by Mr. Cockburn.—Mr. Macmurdo, yon
are the surgeon of Newgate,

Witness.—Yes. ;

Mr. Cockburn,— I believe yon were summoned on the other side, but not called 2

Witness.—Yes. .

Mr. Cockburn.—Has your opinion been reduced to writing ?

Witness.—1It has not. :

Mr. Cockburn.—I helieve you have been in the habit of regularly visiting the prisoner
since his confinement in Newgate ¢

Witness.— Yes, daily.

Mr, Cockburn.—Have you examined his state of mind.

Witness,—I have taken pains to ascertain his state of mind.

Mr, Cockburn.—What is your opinion of his soundness or unsoundness of mind ?
I Witness.—I consider him insane, '

Mr, Cockburn.—Do you think he was so when he shot Mr. Drummond ?

Witness.—I do.

Mzr. Cockburn.—I believe yon have given that opinion to the parties engaged in the
prosecution ?

Witness.—1 have.

Cross-examined by the Solicitor-General.—Do you- believe that he was insane at the
moment he committed the offence.

Witness,—Yes; Ido. He (the prisoner) believed that he was acting in self-defence and
correctly. 'That opinion is the result of several conversations. :

Mr, Aston Key, surgeon, sworn, and examined by Mr, Clarkson.—I understand you
are surgeon of Guy's Hospital. i

Witness.—I am.

Mr, Clarkson.—You have not seen the prisoner since his confinement in Newgate ?

Witness.—I have not.

My, Clarkson.— When did you first see him?
_ Witness.—I saw him for the first time yesterday, in court.

Mr. Clarkson.—Have youn been in court during the whole of the trial ?

Witness,—I have.

Mr. Clarkson,—Judging from what you have heard, what is your opinion of his state of
mind ?

Witness.—I believe that when M‘Navghton shot Mr, Drummond he was labouring under
a delusion.

Mr, Clarkson.—Do you consider that he was responsible for his actions ?

Witness,— I think he was exempt from all responsibility, and had no control over his actions.

Cross-examined by the Solicitor-General.—Your attention, I understand, has not been
particularly directed to the subject of insanity 2 rride 45

Witness.— It has not, but I have been engaged in judicial inguiries.

The Solicitor-General.—Do you not think a person may he under the influcnce of a
morbid delusion, and yet be able to conduct the ordinary atfairs of life?

Witness.—1 do; the delusion which impelled M*Naughton was one which he could not
control ? .

The Solicitor-General.—If you conld discover the presence of other motives, would it
not be necessary to give the case closer consideration ?
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to lay before you the evidence we possessed of the conduet of this young
man. 1 cannot agree with the obgervations my learned friend has made on
the doctrines and authorities that have been laid down in this case, because I
think those doectrines and authorities are correct law; our object being to as-
certain whether at the time the prisoner committed the crime he was at that
time to be regardéd as a responsible agent, or whether all control of himself
was taken away? The Lord Chief Justice I understand to mean to submit
that question to you. I cannot press for a verdict against the prisoner, The
learned judge will submit the case to you, and then it will be for you to come
to your decision.

The Cuier Jusrick TinpAL.—Gentlemen of the Jury, in this important
case, which has excited very great anxiety during the two preceding days,
the point I shall have to submit to you is, whether on the whole of the evi-
dence you have heard, you are satisfied that at the time the act was committed,
for the commission of which the prisoner now stands charged, he had that
competent use of his understanding as that he knew that he was doing, by the
very act itself, a wicked and a wrong thing? 1If he was not sensible at the
time he commitied that act, that it was a violation of the law of God or of
man, undoubtedly he was not responsible for that act, or liable to any punish-
ment whatever flowing from that act. Gentlemen, that is the precise point
which I shall feel it my duty to leave to you. I have undﬂuhted]i‘y been very
much struck, and so have my learned brethren, by the evidence we have heard
during the evening, from the medical persons who have been examined as to
the state of the mind of the unhappy prisoner—for unhappy I must call him
in reference to his state of mind. Now, gentlemen, I can go through the
whole of the evidence, and particularly call back your attention to that part
of it to which I at first adverted, but I cannot help remarking, in common
with my learned brethren, that the whole of the medical evidence is on one
side, and that there is no part of it which leaves any doubt on the mind. It
seems, almost unnecessary that I should go through the evidence. I am
however, in your hands; butif on balancing the evidence in your minds, you
think the prisoner eapable of distinguishing between right and wrong, then he
was a responsible agent and liable to all the penallies the law imposes, If
not so, and if in your judgment the subject should appear involved in very
great difficulty, then you will probably not take npon yourselves to find the
prisoner guilty. If that is your opinion, then you will acquit the prisoner. If
you think you ought to hear the evidence more fully, in that case 1 will state
it to you, and leave the case in your hands. Probably, however, suflicient
has now been laid before you, and you will say whether you want any
further information.

The Foreman of the Jury.—We require no more, my Lord.

The Cuier Justice TiNpan.—If you find the prisoner not guilty, say on
the ground of insanity, in which case proper care will be taken of him.

The Foreman.—We find the prisoner NOT GUILTY, on the ground of
insanity.

'I‘heYClark of the Arraigns, by order of the Court, directed the gaoler o
keel} the prisoner in safe custody till her Majesty’s pleasure be known.

The prisoner was then removed, and the Jury were discharged.

On Wednesday the 15th of March, the prisoner was removed by Mr.
Cope, the Governor of Newgate, to Bethlehem Hospital, St. George’s F:lelds,
under an order from the Right Hon. Sir James Graham, her Majesty’s Se-
cretary of State for the Home Department.
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Mr. Clarkson then said, that he bad been instructed to apply to their Jordships on behalf
of the prisoner, to have the trial postponed until the next session; and he was instructed
further to apply to bave a certain paper, being a receipt for money, which bad been taken
from tbe prisoner at the time he was apprehended, restored to him ; that receipt was for
the sum of 750(., which had been Iudgmf by the prisoner in the Glasgow and Shipping
Bunk, Mr. Humphries had been instructed to defend the prisoner only on Monday last,
and Le held in bis band an affidavit made by that gentleman, which would fully explain the
grounds of his application. He must, howsver, remind the court that the prisoner had
originally been remanded till the Gth instant, in order that the trial might not take place
until the next session ; but in consequence of the lamented death of the deceased, it was
considered necessary to have the prisoner immediately finally examined, and at once com-
mitted to take his trial.

The affidavit referred to was then read as follows :—

"THE QUEEN V. DANIEL M'NAUGHTON, INDICTED FOR WILFUL MURDER,

“ William Corne Humphries, of No. 119, Newgate-street, in the eity of London, in
partnership with George Perceval, Solicitor, retained to defend the above-named prisoner,
maketh oath and saith, that the above-named prisoner was committed upon the above
charge to her Majesty’s gaol of Newgate, on Saturday, the 28th of January last, and that
this deponent was, in the afternoon of Monday, the 30th day of January last, instructed for
the first time to act as solicitor in his defence. T'bat this deponent forthwith had an inter-
view with the said prisoner, and found in his possession a copy of the depositions taken
against him before the committing magistrate at Bow-street, and a copy also of certain other
depositions which appears to have been taken at Glasgow, in Scotland, on cath, in the
presence of Archibald Alison, Esq., advocate-sherift of Lanarkshire, on the 24th of January
last, which last-mentioned depositions set forth various acts and circumstances having re-
ference to the state of mind of the prisoner. That this deponent was informed, that the
said two sets of depositions were furnished to the said prisoner by some person in authority
at the police-court, Bow-streat, at the time when the sald prisoner was committed on last
Saturday as aforessid. And this deponent further zaith, that from his communication
with the said prisoner,and from a letter which this deponent bas seen, appearing to be
written from and bearing the post mark of Glasgow, respecting the prisoner, and also from
the perusal of the depositions so respectively taken at ‘Bow-street, and before the advocate
sheriff as aforesaid, this deponent verily believes that it will be necessary for the full and
fuir defence of the sald prisoner, that a number of witnesses should be procured from Scot-
land, and that inquiry should be made for the purpose of procuring, if possible, certain
other witnesses from France, where the said prisoner was some time since residing. And
this deponent further saith, that Le bas been informed and believes that a letter bas been
sent to Scotland, with directions to send some witnesses from there, who are expected to
give important evidence in favour of the said prisoner, upon the trial of the said indictment,
but from the shortness of the time since the prisoner's committal, this deponent is unable
to say whether or not the said witnesses so sent for will arrive during the present session ;
and if the said last-mentioned witnesses should so arrive, this deponent verily believes
that it would not even then be safe for the said prisoner to take his trial until further
and more extensive inquir{ can be made respecting bim, extending, as above said, to the
kingdom of France. And this deponent further saith, that very considerable outlay will
necessarily be incurred in travelling and other necessary expenses, before the defence of
the said prisoner can be so properly prepared as to lay the same in a proper and salisfactor
way before the jury who is to try the said prisoner, as this deponent has been informed,
and as the deposition of James Silver, tuken at Bow-street, states, he has bad taken from
him, by the said James Silver, the following notes, security, _an_d money—viz., two 5. Bank-
of England notes, four sovereigns, four half-crowns, one shilling, one fourpenny piece, one

penny piece, and a receipt for 7500, from the Glasgow and Shipping Bank, And this depo-

nent verily believes that the said prisoneris now personally without funds, and thatif the
said order for 7501, on the Glasgow Bankshall be restored tobim it will take a very considerable
time to transmit the said order and receive in return the cash in payment for the same, in
due course of post. And this deponent further saith, that after his interview with the
said prisoner on Monday last, this deponent caused to be written a letter to Mr, George
Maule, the solicitor for the Treasury, and who conducts this prosecution, ol which letter
the paper writing hereto annexed, marked * A, is a true copy, m_]li which letter wns sent
Dby this deponent to the said Mr. Maule early on Tuesday morning, and to which letter
this deponent received on the last named day the answer hereto annexed, marked *B.'
And this deponent lastly saith, that be verily believes that he cannot fairly and properly be
prepared so thoroughly to defend the prisoner at the present session as Lie shall be at the
session nextcoming, when this deponent verily believes, from the information aforesaid,
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bave any connexion with the charge ngainst the prisoner, he hoped there would be no
objection on the pertof the prosecution togive it up.

Lord Abinger asked the Attorney-General whether he offered any opposition to the
application 1

The Attorney-General said, it would certainly have been more satisfactory if some of
the depositions which had been roturned from Scotland had been annexed to the affidavit, as
1t was only by the last part of it that it appeared any attempt would be made to shew that
the prisoner was not of sound mind ; at the same time, he felt bound in justice to say, that
he had seen the depositions alluded to, and they certainly contained matter which it would
be very proper to ay before the jury who would have to try the prisoner, He would alsa
add, that those who conducted the prosecution were anxious that it should be conducted
with the utmost fairness, both as regarded the prisoner and the public, whose interests were
deeply involved in the resultof theinvestigation,

Lord Abinger said, that after what had been stated by the learned Attorney-General,
who had read the depositions referred, and who considered they contained facts material to
be proved in behalf of the prisoner, the Court could not resist the application for the post-
ponement of the trial; the depositions alluded to were certainly important, and without
them he should not bave considered the affidavit sufficient,

_Mr. Clarkson again called his Lordship's attention to the other part of his application—
viz,, the restoration of the bank receipt and the money taken from the prison. It was
essentially necessary that he should have the means of properly getting up his defence, and
as there was not the slightest pretence for saying either the one or the other had anythin
to do with the charge, he hoped there would be no objection to the property being hande
over to the prisoner’s solicitors.

Lord Abinger said, it appeared that the prosecutor did not object to hand over to tha
prisoner a sufficient sum to meet the necessary expenses of getting up bis defence ; beyond
that he thought he could not make any order.

The Attorney-General said that application had certainly been made to Mr. Maule for
the restoration of the papers taken from the prisoner, but as they were considered import-
ant for the ends of the prosecution, an answer was sent back that they could not be
returned; but at the same time an intimation was given that any reasonable amount would
be handed over to the prisoner, upon the security of the receipt for the purpose of pre-
paring his defence. With respect to the receipt itself, he certainly could not consent to its
being given up, as it might become a very important dotument in behalf of the prosecution.

Lord Abinger said the trial would be allowed to stand over, upon the understanding
lﬂb:_t sufficient funds should be supplied to the prisoner for the purpose of preparing his

efence.

The Attorney-General begged to inform the Court that the deposition alluded to bad not
been made by order of, nr under the authority of, the Government, but by a public officer in
the discharge of his duty, and upon his own responsibility.

The prisoner was then removed from the bar.

T, ¢, Savill, Priuter, 107, St. Martin's Lane, Charing Cross.






